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OPINION 

CLAY, Circuit Judge.  

Defendants Dale C. Emmons (“Emmons”) and Gerald 
G. Lundergan (“Lundergan”) appeal the district court’s 
entry of judgment against them following a jury trial for 
alleged criminal activity related to Alison Lundergan 
Grimes’ (“Grimes”) campaign for the U.S. Senate seat 
held by Mitch McConnell in 2014. Emmons and Lunder-
gan were convicted by a jury for knowingly and willfully 
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making unlawful corporate contributions aggregating 
$25,000 or more, under the Federal Election Campaign 
Act (“FECA”), 52 U.S.C. §§ 30109(d)(1)(A)(i), 30118, and 
18 U.S.C. § 2; conspiracy to defraud the United States, un-
der 18 U.S.C. § 371; willfully causing the submission of 
materially false statements, under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1001(a)(2) 
and 2; and the falsification of records or documents, under 
18 U.S.C. §§ 1519 and 2. For the reasons stated below, we 
AFFIRM the district court’s judgment.  

BACKGROUND 

Gerald Lundergan is the father of former Kentucky 
Secretary of State, Alison Lundergan Grimes, and he is 
the owner of S.R. Holding Company (“S.R. Holding”), 
which operates catering, events, and emergency disaster 
businesses.1 Lundergan has been actively engaged in 
Kentucky politics, having served as a member of the Ken-
tucky House of Representatives and as the chair of the 
Kentucky Democratic Party. On July 1, 2013, during her 
first term as Kentucky Secretary of State, Grimes an-
nounced her intention to run against Mitch McConnell in 
the 2014 U.S. Senate race.2 Jonathan Hurst (“Hurst”) 
served as Grimes’ campaign manager, but Lundergan was 

                                                  
1 Lundergan’s daughters, Abby Lundergan Dobson and Alissa 

Lundergan, have taken on most of the responsibility of running the 
company. 

2 Up until she announced her candidacy, Grimes did not intend to 
run for McConnell’s Senate seat and had even told her staff and sup-
porters the morning of the announcement that she was not going to 
run. As a result, her announcement took many by surprise, including 
her own family—some of whom were away on vacation at the time. As 
a result of Grimes’ last-minute decision to run, the necessary infra-
structure for her campaign was not in place beforehand, so Grimes’ 
family stepped in to help with the campaign. 
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heavily involved in the day-to-day operations of the cam-
paign—namely campaign fundraising, expenses, and 
strategy—and often met with Hurst to discuss these top-
ics. Lundergan negotiated with vendors, hired campaign 
staff, and reviewed and approved vendor invoices and 
campaign advertisements. 

After Grimes announced her intention to run against 
McConnell, the campaign began planning a kick-off event 
to take place at the end of July 2013 that would serve as a 
more formal announcement of the campaign. The kick-off 
event took place at the Carrick House, which is owned by 
Lundergan. The Lundergan family, including Gerald 
Lundergan and Grimes’ sisters, Abby Lundergan Dobson 
and Alissa Lundergan, helped coordinate the event, and 
S.R. Holding made payments to four vendors who pro-
vided staging, lighting, an LED video wall, and audio-vis-
ual equipment and services for the event, at a total cost of 
$25,495. S.R. Holding only invoiced the campaign 
$3,706.25—which covered the expenses that the company 
incurred for the stage, audio-visual services, tent stations, 
bottled water, two banners, chairs, and the outdoor facil-
ity rental—and the campaign paid this balance in a check 
addressed to “Lundy’s Special Events.”3 (R. 211, Trial Tr. 
at PageID # 3814; Doc. No. 31, App’x at 144-45.) The cam-
paign’s FEC Report that was filed on October 15, 2013, 
included the $3,706.25 payment to S.R. Holding, and the 
report was sent to Grimes, Lundergan, and Hurst for 
their review to ensure that the listed disbursements were 
described accurately. After the company was served with 

                                                  
3 As discussed at trial, Abby Dobson Lundergan testified before 

the grand jury that she was the one who mistakenly underbilled the 
campaign for expenses incurred by S.R. Holding for the kick-off 
event. 
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a grand jury subpoena requesting records and infor-
mation related to expenses incurred for the campaign, 
S.R. Holding invoiced the campaign for the unpaid ex-
penses of the kick-off event.  

Near the start of the campaign, Dale Emmons, a 
friend of the Lundergan family and a political consultant, 
and his associate Joey George began providing political 
consulting services to help Grimes’ and other Kentucky 
Democrats’ campaigns. Emmons wanted to be selected 
for the position of Kentucky Coordinated Campaign Di-
rector, so, as a means of demonstrating his capability for 
the role, Emmons and George began drafting a coordi-
nated campaign plan for the Kentucky Democratic 
Party—working out of the basement of the same building 
where the Grimes campaign had its headquarters.4 At this 
time, the coordinated campaign was not operational, and 
it did not come into existence under mid-2014. From July 
2013 to November 2013, S.R. Holding paid a total of 
$90,500 to Emmons & Company for Emmons and 
George’s work,5 which were invoiced as “Consulting Ser-
vices Retainer” until they both began directly working for 
the Grimes campaign in January 2014. (R. 274, Trial Tr. 

                                                  
4 The coordinated campaign was a separate operation run by the 

Kentucky Democratic Party to support Democratic candidates 
throughout the state, with a particular focus on the candidate at the 
top of the ballot, which was Grimes during the 2014 election. In order 
to be selected for director of the coordinated campaign, Emmons 
needed the support of Grimes, the Kentucky Democratic Party, and 
the Democratic Senatorial Campaign Committee. Grimes wanted 
Emmons to be selected as director, but members of the Kentucky 
Democratic Party did not want Emmons for the position. Accord-
ingly, he was not given the role. 

5 From the S.R. Holding payments, Emmons paid George a 
monthly salary of $3,500 for his work. 
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at PageID # 7463; R. 211, Trial Tr. at PageID # 3827-28; 
Doc. No. 33, App’x at 482.)  

At trial, a major point of dispute between Defendants 
and the government was whether Emmons and George 
were working in anticipation of the coordinated campaign 
or were providing their services for the benefit of the 
Grimes campaign. For example, government witness, 
Agent Tylor Hanna, testified at trial that Emmons “did a 
variety of things for the Alison for Kentucky campaign, 
such as setting up robocalls, getting artwork for different 
marketing things, setting up fund-raiser events, accompa-
nying the candidate to various events, organizing meet-
ings, [and] communicating with the leadership of the Ali-
son For Kentucky campaign.” (R. 252, Trial Tr. at PageID 
# 6393-94.) Additionally, Hurst and Erin Tibe, the cam-
paign’s compliance director, testified that they did not 
know that S.R. Holding was paying Emmons and George 
for their work and thought they were working for the 
campaign in a volunteer capacity until January 2014. But, 
as demonstrated on cross-examination, Defendants as-
serted that Emmons and George were organizing events 
and preparing materials for events that promoted the 
plan they created for the coordinated campaign, part of 
which involved coordinating with Grimes’ campaign given 
that she was the lead candidate on the ballot.  

In addition to payments for consulting services, Lun-
dergan used funds from S.R. Holding to reimburse Em-
mons for the expenses he paid to third-party vendors for 
mailers and robocalls promoting campaign-related events 
as well as for an internet upgrade for the office. At trial, 
Brian Chism, the owner of Chism Strategies, Inc., testi-
fied that the company recorded robocalls to promote the 
Alison For Kentucky campaign and encourage voters to 
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attend campaign events. Emmons was the primary con-
tact for Chism Strategies and provided the content for the 
calls and direction on which voters to contact, and Lun-
dergan and Hurst were copied on the emails to Chism 
Strategies regarding the content and scheduling of the 
calls. Although the calls were authorized by the campaign, 
the calls erroneously stated that they had been “Paid for 
by Alison For Kentucky,” (R. 261, Trial Tr. at PageID # 
6922; R. 274, Trial Tr. at PageID # 7478), as Chism Strat-
egies invoiced Emmons & Company for the expenses re-
lated to the call. (Doc. No. 31, App’x at 79-81 (invoice from 
and checks made out to Chism Strategies, Inc., for “Rec 
call” and “Setup”).)  

Additionally, Emmons was reimbursed by S.R. Hold-
ing for payments he made to Bluegrass Integrated Com-
munications for mailers promoting campaign events. For 
example, Bluegrass invoiced Emmons & Company for in-
vitations it made for the “Women Leading Lexington” 
event held in September 2013, which it listed as being 
work for “Alison For Kentucky.” (R. 229, Trial Tr. at 
PageID # 5670; Doc. No. 31, App’x at 85-90.) The invita-
tion contained the campaign logo and a disclaimer that er-
roneously indicated that it had been “paid for [by] Alison 
For Kentucky,” as Emmons & Company paid $1,605.58 
for the invitations and was then reimbursed by S.R. Hold-
ing. (R. 276, Trial Tr. at PageID # 7697-98.) Lundergan 
also reimbursed Emmons for an internet maintenance up-
grade in his office in the basement of the Grimes cam-
paign headquarters. Emmons paid Wendell Wilson Con-
sulting, LLC, $2,850 for the upgrade, and was later reim-
bursed by S.R. Holding. And Emmons hired Wendell Wil-
son Consulting to troubleshoot the campaign network, 
which S.R. Holding similarly reimbursed. None of these 
payments by S.R. Holding were reported to the campaign.  
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Lundergan also paid third-party vendors, Financial 
Innovations and Axxis, Inc., for campaign merchandise. 
The Grimes campaign entered a licensing agreement with 
Financial Innovations, through which the company set up 
a website and sold merchandise and from which the cam-
paign received no proceeds. The Grimes campaign bought 
yard signs, rally signs, and table tents from Financial In-
novations, and the campaign purchased lapel pins, t-
shirts, bumper stickers, signs, and buttons, for which 
Abby Lundergan Dobson was the primary contact. Alt-
hough the Grimes campaign treasurer, at Grimes’ direc-
tion, tried to have the campaign pay for this merchandise, 
S.R. Holding ultimately covered the payments due for the 
merchandise. Axxis, Inc., provided staging, lighting, and 
audio and visual services for two campaign rallies—one at 
the Kentucky International Convention Center and an-
other on election night at Carrick House. The invoice for 
these services was billed to “Lundy’s Special Events,” and 
S.R. Holding paid the balance. (Doc. No. 31, App’x at 201-
06; R. 274, Trial Tr. at PageID # 7509-11.) S.R. Holding 
did not seek reimbursement from the Grimes campaign, 
and the company did not report the Emmons & Company 
reimbursement payments or the third-party vendor pay-
ments to the campaign.  

On August 31, 2018, Lundergan and Emmons were in-
dicted by a grand jury on several criminal charges related 
to their conduct during the campaign. Emmons was in-
dicted on one count of knowingly and willfully making un-
lawful corporate contributions aggregating $25,000 or 
more, under 52 U.S.C. §§ 30109(d)(1)(A)(i), 30118, and 18 
U.S.C. § 2; one count of conspiracy to defraud the United 
States, under 18 U.S.C. § 371; two counts of willfully caus-
ing the submission of materially false statements, under 
18 U.S.C. §§ 1001(a)(2) and 2; and two counts of falsifica-
tion of records or documents, under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1519 and  
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2. Lundergan was indicted for one count of knowingly and 
willfully making unlawful corporate contributions aggre-
gating $25,000 or more, under 52 U.S.C. §§ 30109(d)(1) 
(A)(i), 30118, and 18 U.S.C. § 2; one count of conspiracy to 
defraud the United States, under 18 U.S.C. § 371; four 
counts of willfully causing the submission of materially 
false statements, under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1001(a)(2) and 2; and 
four counts of falsification of records or documents, under 
18 U.S.C. §§ 1519 and 2.  

Lundergan filed six separate motions to dismiss the 
counts in the indictment, which Emmons joined. As rele-
vant to the present appeal, Lundergan and Emmons ar-
gued that: (1) prosecuting Lundergan and Emmons for 
contributions to Grimes’ campaign from Lundergan’s 
closely-held companies violated the First Amendment; (2) 
the indictment failed to sufficiently allege that the pay-
ments made by the Lundergan Companies to Emmons for 
political consulting and vendors were coordinated with 
the campaign, and, accordingly, those payments were not 
impermissible campaign contributions; and (3) FECA’s 
corporate contributions ban violated the Equal Protection 
Clause and the First Amendment by prohibiting solely-
owned corporations from making campaign contributions, 
while allowing LLCs and partnerships to do so, and by 
prohibiting speech based on the speaker being a corpora-
tion, respectively.  

The district court denied all of the motions to dismiss 
the indictment. The district court said that the indictment 
alleged facts pertaining to proscribed campaign contribu-
tions, and these allegations coupled with the use of the rel-
evant statutory language and the term “contributions” 
was sufficient to allege a FECA violation without any ad-
ditional showing of coordination between the campaign 
and Lundergan and Emmons. The district court also 
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found that the ban against corporate contributions ap-
plied to the Lundergan companies’ payments to the 
Grimes campaign and did not violate the First Amend-
ment, notwithstanding that the companies are solely 
owned by Lundergan, who is Grimes’ father.  

Prior to trial, Lundergan and Emmons moved to ex-
clude evidence under Federal Rules of Evidence 404(b) 
and 403 regarding corporate expenditures made by Lun-
dergan for mailers and robocalls related to Grimes’ 2011 
and 2015 campaigns for Kentucky Secretary of State that 
may have violated Kentucky campaign finance laws. Lun-
dergan and Emmons argued that the evidence was inad-
missible because it was not probative of a material issue 
and was being introduced to show Defendants’ propensity 
to violate campaign finance laws, despite the transactions 
never being charged under Kentucky campaign finance 
laws. Lundergan and Emmons also contended that the ev-
idence was not probative for a non-character purpose be-
cause the alleged conduct related to the 2011 and 2015 
campaigns was not “substantially similar” to the conduct 
alleged in the present indictment. Additionally, Lunder-
gan and Emmons argued that the probative value of the 
evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of 
needlessly delaying trial to establish that the alleged vio-
lations of state campaign finance law occurred, and of con-
fusing the issues and misleading the jury on the charges 
against Lundergan and Emmons, the conduct at issue, 
and the relevant law—none of which prejudice would be 
alleviated by a limiting instruction. Finally, they con-
tended that the evidence was not admissible as “res ges-
tae” evidence because the alleged transactions from the 
2011 and 2015 campaigns were not “inextricably inter-
twined” with the acts charged in the indictment or needed 
to complete the story of the charged offenses.  
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Following this motion, the government filed its notice 
of intent to introduce evidence of the 2011 and 2015 cam-
paign related transactions to show Defendants’ intent, 
plan, preparation, knowledge, and absence of mistake re-
garding the charged corporate contributions made to ben-
efit Grimes’ 2014 U.S. Senate campaign, and as res gestae 
evidence due to its temporal connection with the indicted 
conduct.6 Regarding the 2011 Grimes campaign for Ken-
tucky Secretary of State, the government sought to intro-
duce the following other-acts evidence: (1) two checks 
from October and November 2011 totaling close to 
$220,000 from GCL Properties, LLC, to pay Hurst for 
consulting services and campaign mailers on behalf of the 
campaign; (2) three checks from June through November 
2011 totaling around $53,000 from GCL Properties, Inc., 
and S.R. Holding to Emmons, who had been working dur-
ing that time on the Grimes campaign; and (3) testimony 
from Hurst regarding Lundergan’s failure to receive re-
imbursement from the campaign after the 2011 race and 
Hurst advising Lundergan to seek reimbursement from 
the 2014 Senate campaign for any corporate payments 
Lundergan made for the campaign. As for the 2015 cam-
paign, the government wanted to offer the following evi-

                                                  
6 After the government gave its Rule 404(b) notice, Lundergan and 

Emmons filed a motion to supplement its motion to exclude evidence 
of other acts, arguing that the evidence should not be admitted be-
cause (1) the government had not demonstrated that the payments 
made to Emmons were related to Grimes’ 2011 and 2015 campaigns; 
(2) the payments made by Lundergan’s company, GCL Properties 
LLC, were not impermissible corporate contributions; (3) introducing 
evidence of payments made to Emmons and payments made by the 
LLC created a particular risk of unfair prejudice; and (4) the trans-
actions related to the 2015 campaign were only relevant to show pro-
pensity to commit the alleged conduct because they occurred after 
the 2014 Grimes U.S. Senate campaign. 
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dence: (1) testimony from Hurst indicating that in Octo-
ber 2015 Lundergan left $20,000 in cash and several busi-
ness checks at Hurst’s home to reimburse expenses in-
curred for campaign mailings and (2) two checks from Oc-
tober and November 2015 totaling around $11,000 from 
S.R. Holding to Emmons, during which time he was 
providing services to the campaign.  

The district court ultimately admitted the evidence. 
The court determined that the evidence was admissible as 
res gestae evidence because the 2011 and 2015 Grimes 
campaigns for Kentucky Secretary of State occurred 
shortly before and after the 2014 Grimes campaign for 
U.S. Senate, the transactions involved several of the same 
actors, and there was a causal connection between the acts 
of making impermissible corporate campaign contribu-
tions. Additionally, the court determined that evidence of 
impermissible campaign contributions in the 2011 and 
2015 campaigns was admissible under 404(b) as other acts 
evidence to show Lundergan’s and Emmons’ intent, 
knowledge, or absence of mistake in making the alleged 
impermissible corporate contributions in the present 
case. The district court then found that the evidence was 
probative of intent, and any potential prejudice could be 
cured by a limiting instruction.  

At trial, Defendants and the government provided 
competing instructions on the definitions of the terms 
“contribution” and “expenditure.” (See e.g., R. 306, Trial 
Tr. at PageID # 8786-8812; R. 307, Trial Tr. at PageID # 
8967.) At trial, the district court instructed the jury that 
“[f]ederal law prohibits corporations from making cam-
paign contributions to a federal candidate or federal cam-
paign committee.” (R. 298, Jury Instructions at PageID # 
8677.) As relates to contributions, the instructions indi-
cated that: 
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The law treats direct contributions of money or things 
of value and contributions made by way of expendi-
tures for the benefit of the campaign differently. Con-
sequently, the term “contribution” includes any gift, 
subscription, loan, advance or deposit of money or an-
ything of value made by any person for the purpose of 
influencing any election for federal office. The term 
“contribution” also includes the payment by any per-
son of compensation for the personal services of an-
other person which are rendered to a political commit-
tee without charge for any purpose. Finally, the term 
“contribution” also includes any direct or indirect pay-
ment, distribution, deposit, or gift of money, or any 
services, or anything of value to any candidate or cam-
paign committee in connection with any election to the 
Office of United States Senator. 

(Id. at PageID # 8677-78.) The instructions also indicated 
that “[a] person may also make ‘contributions’ in the form 
of expenditures that are coordinated with the campaign,” 
and “[f]or a coordinated expenditure to be a ‘contribution,’ 
the expenditure must be made in cooperation, consulta-
tion, or concert with, or at the request or suggestion of, a 
candidate, her authorized political committees, or their 
agents.” (Id. at PageID # 8678.) The instructions pro-
ceeded to define an expenditure as “any purchase, pay-
ment, distribution, loan, advance, deposit, or gift of money 
or anything of value made by any person for the purpose 
of influencing any election for federal office, as well as a 
written contract, promise, or agreement to make an ex-
penditure.” (Id.) Finally, the district court clarified in the 
instructions that “[a] corporation, on the other hand, if 
there is no coordination, can make unlimited independent 
expenditures. That is, it can make any purchase, payment, 
distribution, deposit, or gift of money or anything of value 
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made by any person for the purpose of influencing any 
election for federal office without coordination.” (Id.) 

After a 21-day trial, the jury found Lundergan and 
Emmons guilty on all counts. After the verdict, Lunder-
gan and Emmons filed a joint renewed motion for a judg-
ment of acquittal or, in the alternative, a motion for a new 
trial.7 Lundergan and Emmons argued that the district 
court should enter a judgment of acquittal because the ev-
idence was insufficient to establish beyond a reasonable 
doubt that the charged transactions were contributions 
under FECA or that Defendants knowingly or willfully 
caused the campaign to fail to report contributions or tam-
pered with the campaign-finance reports. In addition to 
the verdict being against the weight of the evidence, De-
fendants argued for a new trial because of the jury in-
structions on unlawful contributions that failed to 
properly distinguish between a contribution and an ex-
penditure, limit the scope of what constitutes a contribu-
tion, or apprise the jury of the three-part test for “coordi-
nated communications” that qualify as contributions. De-
fendants also argued for a new trial based on the court’s 
erroneous admission of 404(b) evidence regarding Lun-
dergan’s and Emmons’ actions during the 2011 and 2015 
Grimes campaigns and the exclusion of evidence of an FBI 
email exchange casting doubt as to whether Lundergan 
had the requisite specific intent to commit the offenses for 
which he was charged.  

                                                  
7 Defendants first moved for a judgment of acquittal at the close of 

the government’s case-in-chief, and renewed the motion after all the 
evidence was presented at trial in accordance with Fed. R. Crim. P. 
29(b). 
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The district court denied both the motion for judg-
ment of acquittal and the motion for a new trial. The dis-
trict court found that there was sufficient evidence to sup-
port their convictions for unlawful corporate contribu-
tions and for causing the campaign to omit contributions 
from, and tampering with, the Grimes 2014 campaign’s fi-
nancial reports. The district court also determined that 
the contribution instruction was not flawed, the 404(b) ev-
idence was properly admitted to demonstrate lack of mis-
take and its prejudice did not substantially outweigh the 
probative value, and the FBI email evidence was properly 
excluded.  

The Presentence Reports for Lundergan and Em-
mons recommended Guidelines ranges of 63 to 78 months 
and 41 to 51 months, respectively. At the sentencing hear-
ing, the district court sentenced Lundergan to 21 months 
in prison, followed by two years of supervised release, and 
imposed a fine and special assessment of $151,000. As for 
Emmons, the district court varied downward and sen-
tenced him to three years of probation, nine months of 
which he would be required to reside in a halfway house, 
and imposed a fine and special assessment of $50,600. This 
timely appeal followed. 

DISCUSSION 

I.   CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE BAN ON COR-
PORATE CONTRIBUTIONS AS APPLIED TO 
INTRAFAMILIAL CONTRIBUTIONS FROM A 
CLOSELY HELD, FAMILY-RUN CORPORA-
TION 

We review “challenges to the constitutionality of a 
statute de novo.” Tomaszczuk v. Whitaker, 909 F.3d 159, 
164 (6th Cir. 2018). On appeal, Lundergan and Emmons 
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argue that the ban on corporate contributions is unconsti-
tutional as applied to their prosecution for payments 
made by S.R. Holding to Emmons and third-party ven-
dors. They contend that the government cannot show that 
the ban as applied to intrafamilial contributions from a 
closely-held, family-run corporation is closely drawn to a 
sufficiently important interest and does not unnecessarily 
abridge First Amendment rights. 

A. FECA and Limits on Campaign Contributions 

The Federal Election Campaign Act, passed by Con-
gress in 1971, implemented limitations and penalties for 
campaign contributions and expenditures as well as cre-
ated reporting requirements for campaign donations and 
spending. See, e.g., 52 U.S.C. § 30101 et seq. As relevant to 
the present case, FECA states the following: 

It is unlawful . . . for any corporation whatever . . . to 
make a contribution or expenditure in connection with 
any election at which presidential and vice presidential 
electors or a Senator or Representative in, or a Dele-
gate or Resident Commissioner to, Congress are to be 
voted for, or in connection with any primary election 
or political convention or caucus held to select candi-
dates for any of the foregoing offices . . . . 

Id. § 30118(a). The statute makes it a felony for an indi-
vidual to “knowingly and willfully commit[] a violation of 
any provision of this Act which involves the making, re-
ceiving, or reporting of any contribution, donation, or ex-
penditure . . . aggregating $25,000 or more during a calen-
dar year.” Id. § 30109(d)(1)(A)(i). 

Since its passage, FECA has been the subject of sig-
nificant litigation, especially given the First Amendment 
implications of restricting campaign contributions and ex-
penditures. See Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 14 (1976) 
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(“The Act’s contribution and expenditure limitations op-
erate in an area of the most fundamental First Amend-
ment activities. Discussion of public issues and debate on 
the qualifications of candidates are integral to the opera-
tion of the system of government established by our Con-
stitution.”); see also Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 
342-43 (2010) (“The Court has recognized that First 
Amendment protection extends to corporations. . . . Cor-
porations and other associations, like individuals, contrib-
ute to the discussion, debate, and the dissemination of in-
formation and ideas that the First Amendment seeks to 
foster.” (internal quotation marks omitted)). As first ad-
dressed in Buckley, the Supreme Court has applied dif-
ferent levels of scrutiny to statutory limitations on cam-
paign contributions as opposed to those on independent 
expenditures—upholding contribution limits if they are 
supported by “a sufficiently important interest” and if 
they “employ[] means closely drawn to avoid unnecessary 
abridgment of associational freedoms,” 424 U.S. at 25, 
while subjecting limits on independent expenditures to 
“the exacting scrutiny applicable to limitations on core 
First Amendment rights of political expression,”8 id. at 
44-45. 

                                                  
8 The Supreme Court in Buckley reasoned that contribution limits 

only marginally restrict freedom of speech because while “[a] contri-
bution serves as a general expression of support for the candidate and 
his views,” it “does not communicate the underlying basis for the sup-
port,” and “[t]he quantity of communication by the contributor does 
not increase perceptibly with the size of his contribution.” 424 U.S. at 
20-21. In contrast, “[a] restriction on the amount of money a person 
or group can spend on political communication during a campaign 
necessarily reduces the quantity of expression by restricting the 
number of issues discussed, the depth of their exploration, and the 
size of the audience reached.” Id. at 19 (footnote omitted). 
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Applying the “closely drawn” standard, the Supreme 
Court in Buckley determined that the FECA limit on con-
tributions was constitutional based on the government’s 
significant interest in “limit[ing] the actuality and appear-
ance of corruption resulting from large individual finan-
cial contributions,” finding that “the integrity of our sys-
tem of representative democracy is undermined” where 
“large contributions are given to secure a political quid 
pro quo from current and potential office holders.” Id. at 
26-27. The Supreme Court also noted a significant inter-
est in reducing the “appearance of corruption stemming 
from public awareness of the opportunities for abuse in-
herent in a regime of large individual financial contribu-
tions” because such appearance of corruption could erode 
confidence in the government. Id. at 27. It then found that 
$1,000 contribution limitation was “closely drawn” to the 
asserted interests because the limitation targeted the 
“problem of large campaign contributions,” which is “the 
narrow aspect of political association where the actuality 
and potential for corruption have been identified,” while 
still allowing individuals to engage in political expression 
and political association. Id. at 28.  

Following Buckley, the Supreme Court has main-
tained “quid pro quo corruption” as the only legitimate in-
terest that the government has in regulating individual 
campaign contributions. McCutcheon v. FEC, 572 U.S. 
185, 192 (2014) (“Any regulation must instead target what 
we have called ‘quid pro quo’ corruption or its appear-
ance.”). In McCutcheon, the plurality defined quid pro 
quo corruption as a “direct exchange of an official act for 
money” and indicated that “the Government may not seek 
to limit the appearance of mere influence or access” as a 
basis for regulating contributions. Id. at 192, 208. For pur-
poses of the “closely drawn” standard, the government 
“must show only a cognizable risk of corruption—a risk of 
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quid pro quo corruption or its appearance,” and, although 
“[t]he threat of corruption must be more than mere con-
jecture, and cannot be illusory,” the government “need 
not produce evidence of actual instances of corruption.” 
Schickel v. Dilger, 925 F.3d 858, 870 (6th Cir. 2019) (inter-
nal quotation marks and citation omitted). And in the con-
text of an as-applied challenge, the government must 
show that the application of the regulation to the contri-
bution in question furthers an interest in preventing quid 
pro quo corruption. See FEC v. Wisconsin Right to Life, 
Inc., 551 U.S. 449, 464 (2007) (finding that, in the context 
of an as-applied challenge to a ban on corporate independ-
ent expenditures for “electioneering communications,” 
the government needed to “prove that applying BCRA to 
WRTL’s ads furthers a compelling interest and is nar-
rowly tailored to achieve that interest”). 

B. Intrafamilial Contributions 

In the present case, Emmons and Lundergan contend 
that intrafamilial contributions—the term they use to de-
scribe the payments made by S.R. Holding to Emmons 
and third-party vendors that benefitted the Grimes cam-
paign—do not present a risk of actual or apparent quid 
pro quo corruption because the risk of favorable treat-
ment comes from the fact that the person is related to the 
candidate rather than the exchange of the contribution it-
self. In Buckley, the Supreme Court addressed intra-
familial contributions in its discussion on expenditure lim-
its for candidates from personal or familial funds.9 424 

                                                  
9 The Supreme Court struck down the limit on expenditures from 

a candidate’s personal or familial funds because it did not serve the 
interest of preventing actual or apparent corruption, reasoning that 
“the core problem of avoiding undisclosed and undue influence on 
candidates from outside interests has lesser application when the 
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U.S. at 51-53. After finding that the D.C. Circuit had er-
roneously interpreted the $1,000-per-candidate contribu-
tion limit as not applying to immediate family members of 
the candidate, the Supreme Court determined that this 
application of the contribution limit was constitutional. Id. 
at 51 n.57, 53 n.59. In a footnote, the Supreme Court rea-
soned that “[a]lthough the risk of improper influence is 
somewhat diminished in the case of large contributions 
from immediate family members, we cannot say that the 
danger is sufficiently reduced to bar Congress from sub-
jecting family members to the same limitations as non-
family contributors.” Id. at 53 n.59. 

Lundergan and Emmons claim that this conclusion is 
not binding on this Court because the issue of intrafamilial 
contributions was not squarely before the Supreme Court 
in Buckley. While there was no as-applied challenge to the 
contribution limit based on intrafamilial contributions in 
Buckley, Defendants’ argument ignores the fact that the 
Supreme Court did explicitly determine that the proper 
interpretation of the individual contribution limit included 
intrafamilial contributions—albeit in a footnote—in up-
holding the constitutionality of that provision. See 424 
U.S. at 51 n.57. And Defendants provide no basis to dis-
turb Buckley’s conclusion that intrafamilial contributions 
can be constitutionally regulated, save for the conclusory 
assertion that the risk of corruption comes from the famil-
ial relationship and not the contributions themselves. Just 
because a family member can choose to contribute to a 
candidate based on the familial relationship does not 
mean that the family member could not also contribute to 
the candidate for the purpose of receiving a quid pro quo. 

                                                  
monies involved come from the candidate himself or from his imme-
diate family.” Buckley, 424 U.S. at 53-54. 
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Defendants’ citations to such prosecutions demonstrate 
the risk of quid pro quo corruption—or the appearance 
thereof, Buckley, 424 U.S. at 26-27—from intrafamilial 
contributions.10 See Information at ¶¶ 1-13, United States 
v. Bera, No. 2:16-CR-0097 TLN, 2016 WL 4492413 (E.D. 
Cal. May 9, 2016) (alleging that Bera had directly and in-
directly solicited his family to make contributions to his 
congressional campaign for which he would reimburse 
them with his personal funds); United States v. Acevedo 
Vila, 588 F. Supp. 2d 194, 199 (D.P.R. 2008) (denying 
Acevedo Vila’s motion to dismiss counts 1-9 of the indict-
ment, which included allegations that he “solicited mem-
bers of [his] family . . . to serve as conduits for illegal cam-
paign contributions”); Information at ¶¶ 20-23, United 
States v. Foley, No. 3:14CR65(WWE), 2014 WL 4686481 
(D. Conn. Mar. 31, 2014) (alleging that Lisa Wilson-Foley, 
a congressional candidate, and her husband Brian Foley 
engaged in a scheme in which Foley made payments from 
his real estate and nursing home companies to two of Wil-
son-Foley’s campaign staffers—under the pretext that 
they provided services to the companies—none of which 
were reported to the FEC).  

The cases cited by the district court in the order deny-
ing the motion to dismiss—despite not dealing explicitly 

                                                  
10 Lundergan erroneously contends that the government must 

“show[] some evidence of actual or apparent quid pro quo corruption” 
in order to “constitutionally regulate intrafamilial contributions.” 
(Lundergan Br. at 23.) As previously indicated, the government need 
only show a “cognizable risk” of quid pro quo corruption, rather than 
“evidence of actual instances of corruption.” Schickel, 925 F.3d at 870. 
Additionally, in the same way that Defendants assume that intra-
familial contributions only present a risk of favorable treatment 
based on the familial relationship, this argument also seems to as-
sume that intrafamilial contributions cannot involve any coordination 
between a campaign and the family member making the contribution. 
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with a quid pro quo agreement between a family member 
and a candidate for an official act—similarly demonstrate 
the potential for corruption, even quid pro quo corruption 
or its appearance, with contributions from family mem-
bers. For example, in United States v. Reed, Walter Reed, 
the district attorney for Louisiana’s 22nd Judicial District, 
was charged with wire fraud and money laundering after 
making payments from his campaign funds to his son Ste-
ven Reed’s companies in excess of the bar services they 
provided and convincing two other companies to pay his 
son $5,000 each from the amount Walter had paid them 
for services to the campaign—from which Steven paid 
down a loan on which Walter was the guarantor. 908 F.3d 
102, 108 (5th Cir. 2018). In Reed, while the familial rela-
tionship contributed to Walter’s motivation for commit-
ting the offenses, the illicit payments were also motivated 
by a desire that Steven would return the favor by paying 
down the loan for which Walter was legally liable as guar-
antor. See id. In United States v. Skelos, although the quid 
pro quo corruption was between Dean Skelos, the former 
majority leader of the New York Senate, and two corpo-
rations—for the benefit of his son Adam Skelos—Adam 
actively participated in furthering the scheme by threat-
ening one of the companies that his father would not ob-
tain a contract for the company if they did not pay Adam 
more money. 707 F. App’x 733, 739 (2d Cir. 2017); see 
United States v. Skelos, No. S1 15 Cr. 317 (KMW), 2016 
WL 1532253, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 14, 2016), vacated by 
Skelos, 707 F. App’x 733. The facts in both Reed and 
Skelos are not a large departure from a factual scenario in 
which a family member contributed to a candidate for the 
purpose of the candidate engaging in a beneficial official 
act. 
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C. Corporate Contributions 

Lundergan’s and Emmons’ contention that the pay-
ments at issue present no risk of quid pro quo corruption 
fails to account for the key fact in the present case that 
the payments were made by Lundergan’s corporation, 
S.R. Holding, rather than from Lundergan’s personal 
funds. In the same way that intrafamilial contributions 
present a risk of quid pro quo corruption, contributions 
from a closely-held, family run corporation pose a risk of 
quid pro quo corruption through the use of campaign con-
tributions to secure political benefits for the corporation, 
and a risk of circumvention of the individual contribution 
limits. 

The Supreme Court has continued to uphold the fed-
eral ban on corporate contributions. See FEC v. Nat’l 
Right to Work Comm., 459 U.S. 197, 210 (1982); FEC v. 
Beaumont, 539 U.S. 146, 152 (2003). In National Right to 
Work Committee, the Supreme Court first upheld the 
constitutionality of the ban on corporate contributions, 
finding it permissible for “Congress [to have] aimed a part 
of its regulatory scheme at corporations” for the purpose 
of “prevent[ing] both actual and apparent corruption.” 
459 U.S. at 209-10. The Supreme Court also refused to 
“second guess a legislative determination as to the need 
for prophylactic measures where corruption is the evil 
feared.” Id. at 210. In Beaumont, the Supreme Court re-
affirmed the constitutionality of the corporate contribu-
tions ban, noting that “[a]ny attack on the federal prohibi-
tion of direct corporate political contributions goes 
against the current of a century of congressional efforts 
to curb corporations’ potentially ‘deleterious influences on 
federal elections.’ ” 539 U.S. at 152 (quoting United States 
v. Automobile Workers, 352 U.S. 567, 585 (1957)). The Su-
preme Court also reaffirmed the original justifications of 
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the ban “to prevent corruption or the appearance of cor-
ruption” by “barring corporate earnings from conversion 
into political war chests” and to “hedge[] against their use 
as conduits for circumvention of valid contribution lim-
its.”11 Id. at 154-55 (internal quotation marks and editorial 
marks omitted). 

Lundergan and Emmons contend that the payments 
by S.R. Holding at issue in the present case should not be 
viewed any differently from other intrafamilial contribu-
tions simply because they were made by a corporation, 
given that Lundergan owns the corporations and is simply 
exercising his First Amendment rights using the corpo-
rate form. It is true “that speech that otherwise would be 
within the protection of the First Amendment [does not] 
lose[] that protection simply because its source is a corpo-
ration,” First Nat’l Bank of Boston v. Bellotti, 435 U.S. 
765, 784 (1978), and that “the First Amendment does not 
allow political speech restrictions based on a speaker’s 
corporate identity,” Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 347. 
However, given that intrafamilial contributions can be 
constitutionally restricted, there is no concern regarding 
speech discrimination based on the “speaker’s corporate 

                                                  
11 The Supreme Court later rejected the other two rationales used 

to justify the ban on corporate contributions—the “anti-distortion” 
principle and the shareholder-protection principle—in Citizens 
United in the context of analyzing FECA’s ban on independent ex-
penditures. 558 U.S. at 349, 361-62. It is unclear if this holding applies 
in the context of corporate contributions, but in McCutcheon the Su-
preme Court only considered the interest in preventing quid pro quo 
corruption in determining whether to uphold the aggregate limits on 
individual contributions. See McCutcheon, 572 U.S. at 207-08, 211. 
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identity,” and no basis to treat these contributions any dif-
ferently from other corporate contributions, or contribu-
tions generally for that matter.12  

Ultimately, the ban on corporate contributions is not 
unconstitutional as applied to intrafamilial contributions 
from a closely-held, family run corporation. As discussed, 
these contributions present a risk of quid pro quo corrup-
tion, and the Supreme Court has upheld limits on contri-
butions from a candidate’s family members as well as the 
ban on corporate contributions as being closely drawn to 
serve the interest in preventing quid pro quo corruption. 

II. ADEQUACY OF THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN 
INFORMING THE JURY OF THE DISTINCTION 
BETWEEN ILLEGAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND 
CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED INDE-
PENDENT EXPENDITURES 

“We review challenges to jury instructions under the 
abuse-of-discretion standard.” United States v. Williams, 
612 F.3d 500, 506 (6th Cir. 2010). But see United States v. 

                                                  
12 Because the limit on contributions as applied to intrafamilial con-

tributions from a closely-held corporation is constitutional, we need 
not address whether Lundergan’s and Emmons’ convictions for con-
spiracy and reporting violations are constitutional, on which Lunder-
gan and Emmons only provide a brief mention on appeal. Addition-
ally, FECA’s reporting requirements do not rely on the constitutional 
status of the payments at issue, as the Supreme Court has upheld dis-
closure and reporting requirements even where it has struck down 
limitations on the payments being reported. See Buckley, 424 U.S. at 
75-76 (finding that the disclosure requirement for independent ex-
penditures served the “independent functions” of “insur[ing] that the 
voters are fully informed” and of “achiev[ing] through publicity the 
maximum deterrence to corruption and undue influence possible”); 
Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 369 (“The Court has explained that dis-
closure is a less restrictive alternative to more comprehensive regu-
lations of speech.”). 
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Blanchard, 618 F.3d 562, 571 (6th Cir. 2010) (“We review 
the legal accuracy of jury instructions de novo.”). In re-
viewing jury instructions, we look at “the instructions as 
a whole, in order to determine whether they adequately 
informed the jury of the relevant considerations and pro-
vided a basis in law for aiding the jury in reaching its de-
cision.” United States v. Frederick, 406 F.3d 754, 761 (6th 
Cir. 2005). Reversal based on “an improper jury instruc-
tion” is only appropriate “if the instructions, viewed as a 
whole, were confusing, misleading, or prejudicial.” United 
States v. Kuehne, 547 F.3d 667, 679 (6th Cir. 2008) (quot-
ing United States v. Harrod, 168 F.3d 887, 892 (6th Cir. 
1999)). 

Emmons and Lundergan argue that the district court 
erred by failing to adequately distinguish between inde-
pendent expenditures and contributions in the jury in-
structions. FECA provides for similar definitions of con-
tributions and expenditures, in part because, prior to the 
Supreme Court’s decisions in Buckley, Citizens United, 
and the like, FECA regulated both independent expendi-
tures and contributions alike. For example, under the 
statute, contributions include “any gift, subscription, loan, 
advance, or deposit of money or anything of value made 
by any person for the purpose of influencing any election 
for Federal office” as well as “the payment by any person 
of compensation for the personal services of another per-
son which are rendered to a political committee without 
charge for any purpose.” 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A). The 
statute then defines expenditures as “any purchase, pay-
ment, distribution, loan, advance, deposit, or gift of money 
or anything of value, made by any person for the purpose 
of influencing any election for Federal office,” as well as 
“a written contract, promise, or agreement to make an ex-
penditure.” Id. § 30101(9)(A). The jury instruction at issue 
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included both of these definitions to explain what kinds of 
transactions constitute contributions and expenditures. 

Subsequent case law has distinguished between con-
stitutionally protected independent expenditures and 
campaign contributions that can be lawfully regulated 
based on the greater potential for quid pro quo corruption 
with contributions than with independent expenditures. 
See Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 345 (noting that the Su-
preme Court in Buckley explained that the limit of inde-
pendent expenditures did not serve an interest in prevent-
ing actual or apparent corruption because “[t]he absence 
of prearrangement and coordination . . . alleviates the 
danger that expenditures will be given as a quid pro quo 
for improper commitments from the candidate” (altera-
tions in original)). In Buckley, the Supreme Court inter-
preted the $1,000 statutory limit on expenditures as “ap-
ply[ing] only to expenditures for communications that in 
express terms advocate the election or defeat of a clearly 
identified candidate for federal office,” before deeming 
this limitation unconstitutional. 424 U.S. at 44 (footnote 
omitted). In Citizens United, the Supreme Court defined 
independent expenditures as “political speech presented 
to the electorate that is not coordinated with a candidate,” 
and then proceeded to determine that FECA’s ban on cor-
porate independent expenditures was unconstitutional. 
558 U.S. at 360, 365. And in both cases the Supreme Court 
emphasized that contributions are those payments or 
items of value given to a candidate or campaign. See Buck-
ley, 424 U.S. at 24 (noting that the $1,000 limit on contri-
butions applies when “the contribution is given to the can-
didate, to a committee authorized in writing by the candi-
date to accept contributions on his behalf, or indirectly via 
earmarked gifts passed through an intermediary to the 
candidate”); Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 345 (noting that 
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Buckley upheld “FECA’s limits on direct contributions to 
candidates”). 

In light of the statutory language and the relevant 
case law, Lundergan and Emmons contend that the dis-
trict court’s instruction on unlawful corporate contribu-
tions was confusing, misleading, and prejudicial because 
it presented the concepts of contributions and expendi-
tures together by stating that “[t]he law treats direct con-
tributions of money or things of value and contributions 
made by way of expenditures for the benefit of the cam-
paign differently.” (R. 298, Jury Instructions at PageID # 
8677.) They also argue that the district court impermissi-
bly “str[ung] together a series of overlapping statutory 
definitions that obscured the scope of a prohibited contri-
bution,” which are those contributions made to a candi-
date or campaign. (Lundergan Br. at 36-37.) Without 
properly distinguishing between contributions made to a 
candidate or campaign and expenditures made inde-
pendently, Defendants claim that the jury could have in-
terpreted the instructions to say that “ ‘anything of value’ 
expended by a corporation ‘for the purpose of influencing 
any election for federal office’ was both a contribution and 
an independent expenditure.” (Id. at 38.) 

Defendants’ arguments are not persuasive because 
they fail to take into account the number of ways in which 
the district court’s instruction clarified the distinction be-
tween contributions and independent expenditures, espe-
cially taking the instructions as a whole. See Frederick, 
406 F.3d at 761. The instructions began with the state-
ment: “Federal law prohibits corporations from making 
campaign contributions to a federal candidate or federal 
campaign committee.” (R. 298, Jury Instructions at 
PageID # 8677.) The instruction also listed as one of the 
elements the jury needed to find beyond a reasonable 
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doubt to convict Lundergan and Emmons for unlawful 
campaign contributions that “the Defendant caused un-
lawful contributions to any federal candidate or federal 
campaign committee in connection with [a U.S. Senate 
election].” (Id.) From the outset of the instruction, the 
jury knew that it needed to find that the payments from 
S.R. Holding were made as contributions to the Grimes 
campaign. 

The instruction’s statement that “[t]he law treats di-
rect contributions of money or things of value and contri-
butions made by way of expenditures for the benefit of the 
campaign differently” on its own could have caused confu-
sion given that the phrase “contributions made by way of 
expenditure” includes the use of two concepts that the rel-
evant case law has distinguished significantly. (Id.) But 
the instruction clarified this statement a few paragraphs 
later in which it explained that “[a] person may also make 
‘contributions’ in the form of expenditures that are coor-
dinated with the campaign” and indicated that a coordi-
nated expenditure constitutes a contribution where it is 
“made in cooperation, consultation, or concert with, or at 
the request or suggestion of, a candidate, her authorized 
political committees, or their agents.” (Id. at PageID # 
8678 (emphasis added).) This instruction is in line with Su-
preme Court precedent holding that a coordinated ex-
penditure can be regulated as a contribution and FECA’s 
language on coordinated expenditures. See Buckley, 424 
U.S. at 46-47 (footnote omitted) (“Yet such controlled or 
coordinated expenditures are treated as contributions ra-
ther than expenditures under the Act. Section 608(b)’s 
contribution ceilings rather than [§] 608(e)(1)’s independ-
ent expenditure limitation prevent attempts to circum-
vent the Act through prearranged or coordinated expend-
itures amounting to disguised contributions.”); 52 U.S.C. 
§30116(7)(B)(i) (“[E]xpenditures made by any person in 



29a 

cooperation, consultation, or concert, with, or at the re-
quest or suggestion of, a candidate, his authorized politi-
cal committees, or their agents, shall be considered to be 
a contribution to such candidate[.]”). 

As for the use of the statutory definitions of “contribu-
tion” and “expenditure,” these definitions do have overlap 
in terms of the types of transactions that are considered 
contributions and expenditures as well as the purpose of 
those transactions, namely to “influence[] any election for 
federal office.” (R. 298, Jury Instructions at PageID # 
4677-78.) But the key difference between contributions 
and independent expenditures is that contributions must 
be made to a candidate or campaign, whereas independ-
ent expenditures are those payments made independently 
from the campaign, without coordination. See Buckley, 
424 U.S. at 24, 47; Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 360. The 
instruction made this key distinction and again clarified 
that a “corporation, on the other hand, if there is no coor-
dination, can make unlimited independent expenditures. 
That is, it can make any purchase, payment, distribution, 
deposit, or gift of money or anything of value made by any 
person for the purpose of influencing any election for fed-
eral office without coordination.” (R. 298, Jury Instruc-
tions at PageID # 8678.) And no reasonable jury would 
have concluded that these lawful independent expendi-
tures fall within the scope of “unlawful corporate contri-
butions.” (Id. at PageID # 8677 (emphasis added).) Taken 
as a whole, the instruction on unlawful corporate contri-
butions correctly stated the law as to the distinction be-
tween contributions and independent expenditures and 
was not confusing, misleading, or prejudicial in informing 
the jury that only corporate contributions and coordi-
nated expenditures were proscribed under the law. 
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III. ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE OF LUNDER-
GAN’S OTHER ACTS UNDER FEDERAL RULES 
OF EVIDENCE 404(B) AND 403 

“We generally review the district court’s admission or 
exclusion of evidence for abuse of discretion.” United 
States v. Bell, 516 F.3d 432, 440 (6th Cir. 2008). But for 
evidence admitted under Rule 404(b), we use three differ-
ent standards of review: (1) “for clear error the district 
court’s determination that the ‘other act’ took place;” (2) 
“de novo [for] the district court’s legal determination that 
the evidence was admissible for a proper purpose;” and 
(3) “for an abuse of discretion the district court’s determi-
nation that the probative value of the other-acts evidence 
is not substantially outweighed by its unfairly prejudicial 
effect.” United States v. Ayoub, 498 F.3d 532, 547 (6th Cir. 
2007). 

Lundergan and Emmons contend that the district 
court erred by admitting evidence of Lundergan’s un-
charged acts in connection with Grimes’ campaigns in 
2011 and 2015 for Kentucky Secretary of State as res ges-
tae evidence and under 404(b). They argue that the evi-
dence was not admissible as res gestae evidence because 
it lacked a temporal proximity and causal connection to 
the charged conduct regarding the 2014 Grimes Senate 
campaign. Additionally, Defendants contend that the evi-
dence was not admissible as evidence of “other acts” be-
cause it did not go to show their state of mind, intent, or 
modus operandi; and the “other-acts” evidence did not in-
volve Emmons at all. Finally, they argue that the evi-
dence’s probative value was substantially outweighed by 
its prejudicial effect because the evidence was inflamma-
tory and likely led the jury to impermissibly infer that be-
cause Lundergan had previously violated campaign-fi-
nance laws he also did so in the present case.  
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Under Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b)(1), “[e]vidence 
of any other crime, wrong, or act is not admissible to prove 
a person’s character in order to show that on a particular 
occasion the person acted in accordance with the charac-
ter.” Fed. R. Evid. 404(b)(1). The purpose of Rule 404(b) 
is to prevent a jury from “convict[ing] a ‘bad man’ who de-
serves to be punished not because he is guilty of the crime 
charged but because of his prior or subsequent misdeeds” 
and from “infer[ing] that because the accused committed 
other crimes, he probably committed the crime charged.” 
United States v. Phillips, 599 F.2d 134, 136 (6th Cir. 1979) 
(footnote omitted). We have recognized some exceptions 
to this rule: (1) evidence that provides background infor-
mation for the charged conduct referred to as “res gestae” 
evidence and (2) evidence admissible under Federal Rule 
of Evidence 404(b)(2) to “prov[e] motive, opportunity, in-
tent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, absence of 
mistake, or lack of accident.” United States v. Hardy, 228 
F.3d 745, 748 (6th Cir. 2000); Fed. R. Evid. 404(b)(2). 

A. Admissibility of 2011 and 2015 State Campaign 
Evidence Under Rule 404(b) 

We need not address whether the district court 
properly admitted the 2011 and 2015 campaign as “res 
gestae” evidence because, notwithstanding, the district 
court properly admitted the evidence under 404(b) to 
show intent.13 Under Rule 404(b)(2), the government may 

                                                  
13 The “res gestae” exception only applies “where the evidence ‘con-

sist[s] of those other acts that are inextricably intertwined with the 
charged offense or those acts, the telling of which is necessary to com-
plete the story of the charged offense.’ ” United States v. Brown, 888 
F.3d 829, 836 (6th Cir. 2018) (quoting United States v. Olds, 309 F. 
App’x. 967, 974 (6th Cir. 2009)). In the present case, evidence related 
to payments made by Lundergan’s companies in the 2011 and 2015 
state campaigns was likely not inextricably intertwined with, or nec-



32a 

“introduce evidence of ‘other crimes, wrongs, or acts’ com-
mitted by the defendant so long as the evidence is not used 
merely to show propensity and if it ‘bears upon a relevant 
issue in the case.’ ” United States v. Clay, 667 F.3d 689, 
693-94 (6th Cir. 2012) (quoting Hardy, 228 F.3d at 750). 
Rule 404(b)(2) provides a “non-exhaustive” list of permis-
sible uses of “other acts” evidence, which includes “mo-
tive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, 
identity, or absence of mistake or accident.” Id. at 694 
(quoting Fed. R. Evid. 404(b)(2)). In determining whether 
to admit “other acts” evidence under 404(b), district court 
must consider (1) “whether there is sufficient evidence 
that the other act in question actually occurred;” (2) 
“whether the evidence of the other act is probative of a 
material issue other than character;” and (3) “whether the 
probative value of the evidence is substantially out-
weighed by its potential prejudicial effect.” Adams, 722 
F.3d at 810.  

Neither defendant contests the district court’s finding 
that there was sufficient evidence that the other act in 
question actually occurred; instead, they argue that the 
evidence lacked any probative value of Emmons’ and Lun-
dergan’s intent to cause unlawful corporate contributions. 
And “the government is not required to demonstrate that 
the other acts occurred by a preponderance of the evi-

                                                  
essary to complete the story of, allegations related to similar pay-
ments in the context of the separate, 2014 Senate campaign. Cf. 
United States v. Adams, 722 F.3d 788, 812 (6th Cir. 2013) (finding that 
evidence related to previous instances of vote buying and jury tam-
pering was “a prelude to and ‘complete[d] the story’ of the charged 
conspiracy by showing how [the defendants] rose to become political 
bosses in Clay County, their knowledge of vote buying, and their per-
sonal relationship”). 



33a 

dence;” rather, the government must provide substantia-
tion for that evidence. Bell, 516 F.3d at 441. In the present 
case, the government provided sufficient substantiation of 
this evidence by presenting Hurst’s testimony at trial.  

As for the evidence’s probative value, “[e]vidence of 
other acts is probative of a material issue other than char-
acter if (1) the evidence is offered for an admissible pur-
pose, (2) the purpose for which the evidence is offered is 
material or ‘in issue,’ and (3) the evidence is probative with 
regard to the purpose for which it is offered.” United 
States v. Haywood, 280 F.3d 715, 720 (6th Cir. 2002). In 
the instant case, the government asserted that the evi-
dence went to show Defendants’ intent, lack of mistake, or 
knowledge in committing unlawful corporate contribu-
tions. Additionally, Defendants’ intent, absence of mis-
take, and knowledge was material or at issue in the trial 
because the government needed to show that Emmons 
and Lundergan caused unlawful corporate contributions 
knowingly and willfully. See United States v. Hardy, 643 
F.3d 143, 151 (6th Cir. 2011) (“[W]here the crime charged 
is one requiring specific intent, the prosecutor may use 
404(b) evidence to prove that the defendant acted with the 
specific intent notwithstanding any defense the defendant 
might raise.” (internal citations and quotation marks 
omitted)); 52 U.S.C. § 30109(d)(1)(A)(i).  

Lundergan argues that the evidence was not probative 
of intent as the contributions from the 2011 and 2015 state 
campaigns had no bearing on his state of mind at the time 
of the alleged 2014 Grimes corporate contributions. Spe-
cifically, Lundergan argues that the evidence was not sub-
stantially similar to the charged conduct from the 2014 
Grimes campaign—given that the failure to seek reim-
bursement from the campaign could have been attributed 
to mistake or misunderstanding of the law and much of 
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the payments from 2011 and 2015 were made during a dif-
ferent election, some of which were from Lundergan’s 
LLC, and involved different methods of payment. We 
have previously determined that “[t]o determine if evi-
dence of other acts is probative of intent, we look to 
whether the evidence relates to conduct that is ‘substan-
tially similar and reasonably near in time’ to the specific 
intent offense at issue.” Haywood, 280 F.3d at 721 (quot-
ing United States v. Blankenship, 775 F.2d 735, 739 (6th 
Cir. 1985)). Additionally, “[e]vidence showing that a de-
fendant formed a particular intent on a prior occasion may 
provide insight into his state of mind when he committed 
the charged offense,” in particular where the evidence 
“shows that the defendant took similar actions in a similar 
situation.” United States v. Asher, 910 F.3d 854, 860 (6th 
Cir. 2018). And we have clarified that when using 404(b) 
evidence to show specific intent “[i]t is not necessary . . . 
that the crimes be identical in every detail,” United States 
v. Perry, 438 F.3d 642, 648 (6th Cir. 2006) (alterations in 
original), but “the prior acts [should be] part of the same 
scheme or involve[] a similar modus operandi as the pre-
sent offense,” United States v. Carter, 779 F.3d 623, 627 
(6th Cir. 2015) (first alteration in original).  

In the instant case, the evidence was substantially sim-
ilar and reasonably near in time because the contributions 
from 2011 and 2015 involve Lundergan making payments 
from one of his companies to third-party vendors and Em-
mons for goods and services on behalf of Grimes’ Ken-
tucky Secretary of State campaigns. While some of the 
payments were made in cash rather than by check to 
“Lundy’s Special Events,” these payments were not re-
ported to the campaign, and Defendants did not seek re-
imbursement from the campaign and used vague invoices 
to hide these payments. See Perry, 438 F.3d at 648 (find-
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ing that the 404(b) evidence presented at trial was admis-
sible because “unlike two completely unrelated robberies, 
Perry entered both NCB and Bank One carrying a gun in 
a bookbag and seeking change for $50,” which was suffi-
cient to demonstrate that the robberies were substantially 
similar despite “certain distinctions between the two rob-
beries”). And although some of the payments were made 
by LLCs, who between 2011 and 2015 could lawfully con-
tribute to a campaign in Kentucky up to the statutory con-
tribution limit,14 the payments to the LLC exceeded the 
contribution limit and were part of a larger scheme to cir-
cumvent contribution limits and make payments for goods 
and services benefitting the Grimes campaign. Cf. Carter, 
779 F.3d at 627 (finding that there was “no authority to 
support the proposition that the intent to distribute sub-
oxone strips, an entirely different drug from metham-
phetamine, in an unrelated venture is probative of a spe-
cific intent to join a conspiracy to manufacture homemade 
methamphetamine”). And the uncharged conduct was 
reasonably near in time to the charged conduct in the pre-
sent case given that the uncharged conduct from 2011 and 
2015 occurred in the campaign immediately prior and sub-
sequent to, respectively, the charged conduct from the 
2014 U.S. Senate campaign. Accordingly, the evidence 
was relevant to show Lundergan’s and Emmons’ intent to 
cause unlawful corporate contributions in the present 
case, as well as to show knowledge of and lack of mistake 
regarding the illegal contributions.  

                                                  
14 See Protect My Check, Inc., v. Dilger, 176 F. Supp. 3d 685, 686 

(E.D. Ky. 2016) (involving a challenge to “Kentucky’s campaign fi-
nance law,” which “include[d] certain limitations on corporate contri-
butions that do not similarly apply to contributions from unincorpo-
rated groups, including unions and LLC’s”). 
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Emmons individually argues that the evidence had no 
probative value specifically as to his intent to cause unlaw-
ful corporate contributions because much of the evidence 
did not involve him. However, seven of the payments ref-
erenced at trial from the 2011 campaign were made to 
Emmons himself. As for the remaining payments to Hurst 
and third-party vendors, it is generally true that “similar 
act evidence is relevant only if the jury can reasonably 
conclude that the act occurred and that the defendant was 
the actor.” Huddleston v. United States, 485 U.S. 681, 689 
(1988). But Emmons and Lundergan were charged in a 
conspiracy to cause unlawful corporate contributions and 
were tried together; any potential prejudice was allevi-
ated by the jury instruction regarding other acts, which 
specified that the evidence should only be considered as 
to the individual defendant who was alleged to have com-
mitted those acts.15 

B. Admissibility of the 2011 and 2015 State Cam-
paign Evidence under Rule 403 

Lundergan and Emmons also contend that, notwith-
standing its relevance, the 2011 and 2015 state campaign 
evidence should have been excluded under Federal Rule 
of Evidence 403. Lundergan and Emmons argue that the 
probative value of the evidence from the 2011 and 2015 
campaigns was substantially outweighed by the danger of 
unfair prejudice because of the inflammatory nature of 

                                                  
15 The jury instruction on the evidence of other acts admitted under 

Rule 404(b) read as follows: “You have heard testimony that a De-
fendant committed crimes, acts, or wrongs other than the ones 
charged in the indictment. If you find the Defendant did those crimes, 
acts, or wrongs, you can consider the evidence only as it relates to the 
Government’s claim on the Defendant’s intent, preparation, plan, 
knowledge, and absence of mistake. You must not consider it for any 
other purpose.” (R. 298, Jury Instructions at PageID # 8696.) 
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some details regarding the evidence and the likelihood 
that the jury used the evidence for an impermissible pro-
pensity inference. They contend that any prejudice was 
not properly mitigated by the instruction on 404(b) evi-
dence, given that it was a generic 404(b) instruction. And 
Emmons separately argues that the evidence was partic-
ularly prejudicial to him given that he was not involved in 
some of the uncharged conduct presented at trial. 

As relevant to the analysis of other acts under Rule 
404(b) and the balancing test under Rule 403, “[t]he court 
may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is 
substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of 
the following: unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, mis-
leading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly 
presenting cumulative evidence.” Fed. R. Evid. 403. As 
the Supreme Court and this Court have noted, the “term 
‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the 
capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the 
factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from 
proof specific to the offense charged,” such as “generaliz-
ing a defendant’s earlier bad act into bad character and 
taking that as raising the odds that he did the latter bad 
act now charged (or, worse, as calling for preventive con-
viction even if he should happen to be innocent momen-
tarily).” Bell, 516 F.3d at 444-45 (quoting Old Chief v. 
United States, 519 U.S. 172, 180-81 (1997)). Additionally, 
“[a] limiting instruction will minimize to some degree the 
prejudicial nature of evidence of other criminal acts; it is 
not, however, a sure-fire panacea for the prejudice result-
ing from the needless admission of such evidence.” Hay-
wood, 280 F.3d at 724.  

The potentially “inflammatory” evidence presented at 
trial included evidence regarding Lundergan leaving cash 
with Hurst as payment for services provided to the 



38a 

Grimes campaign, blank checks, and a check with “Boy 
Scouts” in the memo line. (R. 307, Trial Tr. at PageID # 
9039-40.) Notwithstanding the incongruous “Boy Scouts” 
line, this evidence is similar to that used to prove the con-
duct charged in the indictment. (See Doc. No. 33, App’x at 
482 (invoicing S.R. Holding for Emmons’ work for the 
campaign as “[c]onsulting [s]ervices”).) In the closing 
statement, the government provided the proper 404(b) 
context for the evidence, indicating that it went to show 
that Lundergan and Emmons intended to cause unlawful 
corporate contributions, knew the applicable campaign fi-
nance law, and did not make a mistake or misapprehend 
the law in failing to get reimbursed by the campaign. (See 
R. 308, Trial Tr. at PageID # 9240 (“Innocent mistakes 
do not happen over a four-year period repeatedly. But you 
heard evidence that in 2011, Jerry Lundergan used over 
$200,000 in company funds to pay Jonathan Hurst for a 
state campaign expense. And then he tried to do it again 
in 2015.”); id. at PageID # 9241 (“If Jerry Lundergan and 
Dale Emmons facilitated corporate money to pay Senate 
campaign expenses 36 times . . . if they used business 
funds over the course of four years to pay state and fed-
eral campaign expenses, and Jerry Lundergan tried to 
pay for campaign expenses in cash, you can conclude that 
both of these defendants knew exactly what they were do-
ing.”).) Further, as the district court noted in its decision 
admitting the evidence under 404(b), knowledge and in-
tent to cause unlawful corporate contributions was central 
to the charged offenses and the trial. And any prejudice 
was mitigated by the limiting instruction, which cautioned 
the jury not to use the evidence for an impermissible pro-
pensity purpose and to consider the evidence if they found 
that the defendant committed those acts and only as to 
that defendant’s “intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, 
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and absence of mistake,” specifically alleviating any prej-
udice aimed at Emmons regarding the other-acts evi-
dence that only involved Lundergan. (R. 298, Jury In-
structions at PageID # 8696.) Ultimately, given the sig-
nificant probative value of the 2011 and 2015 campaign ev-
idence and the minimal danger of unfair prejudice to De-
fendants, the district court did not abuse its discretion in 
admitting the evidence after conducting a Rule 403 bal-
ancing test. 

IV. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE REGARD-
ING WHETHER EMMONS KNEW OR IN-
TENDED THAT THE PAYMENTS HE RE-
CEIVED FROM S.R. HOLDING WOULD NOT BE 
REIMBURSED BY THE GRIMES CAMPAIGN 

We review “de novo the sufficiency of the evidence to 
sustain a conviction.” United States v. Gunter, 551 F.3d 
472, 482 (6th Cir. 2009). “In reviewing the sufficiency of 
the evidence, the relevant inquiry is whether, after re-
viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the 
prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the 
essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable 
doubt.” United States v. Wallace, 597 F.3d 794, 800 (6th 
Cir. 2010) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).  

Emmons argues individually on appeal that the gov-
ernment failed to establish at trial that he intended to fa-
cilitate unlawful corporate contributions to the Grimes 
campaign or to cause the campaign to submit false reports 
to the FEC. He contends that the government introduced 
no evidence to show that he knew or intended that the 
payments made by S.R. Holding would not be reimbursed 
by the campaign or had any involvement in campaign-fi-
nance reports for the Grimes campaign. 
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Under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 29, not-
withstanding the jury verdict, “the court on the defend-
ant’s motion must enter a judgment of acquittal of any of-
fense for which the evidence is insufficient to sustain a 
conviction.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(a). In reviewing the dis-
trict court’s decision to deny a motion for judgment on ac-
quittal, we do not “reweigh the evidence, reevaluate the 
credibility of witnesses, or substitute [our] judgment for 
that of the jury.” United States v. Callahan, 801 F.3d 606, 
616 (6th Cir. 2015) (alteration in original) (quoting United 
States v. Eaton, 784 F.3d 298, 304 (6th Cir. 2015)). And, 
given that the district court must view the evidence in the 
light most favorable to the government, “a defendant 
claiming insufficiency of the evidence bears a very heavy 
burden.” United States v. Abboud, 438 F.3d 554, 589 (6th 
Cir. 2006) (internal quotation marks and citations omit-
ted). 

As indicated in the order denying the motion for judg-
ment of acquittal, the district court determined that 
Bryan v. United States, 524 U.S. 184 (1998), provided the 
applicable standard for mens rea in the present case. 
Bryan indicated that “in order to establish a ‘willful’ vio-
lation of a statute, ‘the Government must prove that the 
defendant acted with knowledge that his conduct was un-
lawful.’ ” 524 U.S. at 191-92 (quoting Ratzlaf v. United 
States, 510 U.S. 135, 137 (1994)). And in the present case, 
this means that the government only needed to establish 
that Emmons acted with the knowledge that he was aware 
of the ban on corporate contributions and the FEC report-
ing requirements.  

The government presented sufficient evidence for a 
rational juror to find that Emmons had the requisite in-
tent to cause unlawful corporate contributions and the 
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Grimes campaign to submit false campaign-finance re-
ports. At trial, the government presented evidence that 
Emmons was aware of the corporate contributions ban 
and FEC reporting requirements based on his attendance 
at a campaign finance presentation and his receipt of the 
campaign handbook and an email from Tibe indicating 
that the campaign was not allowed to accept donations 
from corporations. Additionally, although Emmons was 
not involved in the campaign’s filing of finance reports or 
its compliance with the law on campaign contributions and 
expenditures, the government provided evidence of Em-
mons’ extensive involvement in Kentucky politics, from 
which the jury could have inferred that Emmons was 
aware of the relevant campaign finance law, including that 
S.R. Holding needed to be reimbursed for making pay-
ments to him on behalf of the campaign and the campaign 
needed to report these payments to the FEC.  

In addition to evidence demonstrating that Emmons 
was aware of the relevant campaign finance law, the gov-
ernment also included evidence potentially showing that 
Emmons helped Lundergan to conceal the nature of the 
payments made to him by S.R. Holding, which also went 
to his intent to cause unlawful corporate contributions and 
to cause the campaign to submit false reports. In his in-
voices to S.R. Holding, he used vague descriptors such as 
“Marketing Expense,” “Processing Expense,” and “East 
Kentucky Project Expenses,” to name a few, which the 
government argued was to conceal that Lundergan’s com-
pany was paying Emmons for his work related to the cam-
paign. (Doc. No. 31, App’x at 97, 103.) However, many 
third-party vendors’ invoices to Emmons would note that 
the work was being done for the “Alison For Kentucky” 
campaign or make reference to Grimes. (Id. at 99, 102, 
107.) And the fact that the campaign was informed about 
Emmons’ projected salary in anticipation of his desired 
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position as Executive Director of the coordinated cam-
paign, which never materialized, does not undercut his in-
tent to help Lundergan hide the fact that the payments 
made to Emmons were impermissible corporate cam-
paign contributions. Ultimately, the government pre-
sented sufficient evidence for a reasonable juror to infer 
beyond a reasonable doubt that Emmons knowingly 
caused unlawful corporate contributions to be made to the 
Grimes campaign and for the campaign to submit false re-
ports to the FEC. 

CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, we AFFIRM the district court’s 
judgment. 
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MEMORANDUM OPINION & ORDER 

VAN TATENHOVE, United States District Judge. 

 A federal criminal defendant in the United States is 
generally charged by way of an indictment returned in 
open court by a grand jury. An indictment gives a defend-
ant notice of the crimes charged against him so he can ad-
equately prepare a defense. Federal Rule of Criminal 
Procedure 12(b) allows for the dismissal of an indictment 
prior to trial if the charging document suffers from cer-
tain defects. Defendants Gerald G. Lundergan and Dale 
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C. Emmons seek relief under this provision. The Defend-
ants have filed several motions for dismissal of the Indict-
ment returned against them on the grounds that the In-
dictment fails to allege violations of law. Because the In-
dictment complies with the requirements of the United 
States Constitution, the multiple motions to dismiss filed 
by both Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Emmons will be DE-
NIED.   

I 

 In August 2018, a federal grand jury returned an In-
dictment against Gerald G. Lundergan and Dale C. Em-
mons, including ten counts against Mr. Lundergan and six 
counts against Mr. Emmons. [R. 1.] Both Defendants 
were charged with one count of conspiracy to defraud the 
United States in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, one count of 
unlawful corporate campaign contributions in violation of 
52 U.S.C. §§ 30118 and 30109(d)(1)(A)(i) as well as 18 
U.S.C. § 2, two counts of making false statements in vio-
lation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2 and 1001(a)(2), and two counts of 
falsification of records in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2 and 
1519. Id. Against Mr. Lundergan, the indictment adds two 
additional violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2) and two ad-
ditional violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1519. Id. The thirty-page 
Indictment alleges Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Emmons con-
spired to make illegal contributions of corporate money to 
Candidate A and Political Committee 1 and then caused 
Political Committee 1 to make false statements to and file 
false records with the Federal Election Commission. 

At all relevant times, Mr. Lundergan was the owner of 
the Lundergan Companies, which include S.R. Holding 
Co., Inc., the Lundergan Group, Signature Special 
Events, and Lundy’s Special Events. [R. 34-1 at 1; R. 1 at 
¶ 1.] During the same time, Mr. Emmons worked as a po-
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litical consultant and served as a corporate officer of Em-
mons & Company, Inc. [R. 1 at ¶ 2.] Candidate A, a family 
member of Mr. Lundergan, announced her United States 
Senate campaign on July 1, 2013, and held a kickoff event 
on July 30, 2013, at the Carrick House, a property owned 
by Mr. Lundergan. [R. 33-1 at 4; R. 1 at ¶¶ 5-6.] Candidate 
A won her primary election on May 20, 2014, but she lost 
in the general election on November 4, 2014. Id. Both Mr. 
Lundergan and Mr. Emmons actively participated in 
Candidate A’s campaign, with Mr. Lundergan allegedly 
overseeing campaign fundraising activities and payments 
to consultants and vendors while Mr. Emmons provided 
political consulting services to both Candidate A and Po-
litical Committee 1. [R. 1 at ¶¶ 7-8.] 

The Government asserts that Mr. Lundergan coordi-
nated consultants and vendors to provide campaign ser-
vices to Candidate A and Political Committee 1, but rather 
than billing Political Committee 1, these vendors were di-
rected to bill S.R. Holding Co., Inc. Id. at ¶ 14. Then, S.R. 
Holding Co. allegedly paid these vendors and consultants, 
but did not seek reimbursement from Political Committee 
1 or Candidate A. Id. at ¶¶ 15-16. Mr. Emmons, working 
as a political consultant, purportedly sought and received 
payment for his services through S.R. Holding Co. and 
Mr. Lundergan, rather than through Political Committee 
1. Id. at ¶ 17. Furthermore, the Government asserts that 
Mr. Emmons also directed certain vendors to bill Em-
mons & Company, Inc. for their services to the campaign, 
but instead of receiving reimbursement from Political 
Committee 1, Emmons & Company sought and received 
reimbursement from S.R. Holding Co. Id. at ¶ 18. Invoices 
associated with these payments ostensibly indicated the 
payments were for “consulting services.” Id. These pay-
ments potentially were submitted after the campaign, 
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though they compensated for services rendered during 
the campaign. Id. at ¶ 19. 

In this alleged scheme, Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Em-
mons concealed these payments from Political Committee 
1, the Federal Election Commission, and the public, re-
sulting in Political Committee 1 filing reports that did not 
accurately portray the source and amount of contribu-
tions as required by law. Id. at ¶ 20. The Indictment con-
tinues on to allege a list of payments for campaign ex-
penses made from bank accounts held by S.R. Holding Co. 
and Emmons & Company. Id. at ¶ 21.  

Mr. Lundergan filed six separate motions to dismiss. 
[R. 33; R. 34; R. 35; R. 36; R. 37; R. 38.] Mr. Emmons 
moved to join those motions and Mr. Lundergan’s replies. 
[R. 41; R. 65.] The Government filed no objections to Mr. 
Emmons’s requests for joinder, instead responding to Mr. 
Lundergan’s motions as if the motions were filed by both 
Defendants. [See R. 51; R. 53; R. 54; R. 55; R. 56.] Accord-
ingly, Mr. Emmons’s Motions for Joinder [R. 41; R. 65] 
are granted, and the Court will address the motions to dis-
miss as to both Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Emmons, ulti-
mately denying them all. 

II 

Federal grand jury indictments have a purpose. As the 
Supreme Court explained in Russell v. United States, our 
use of the indictment today is rooted in the guarantees set 
forth in the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the United 
States Constitution. See 369 U.S. 749, 760-61 (1962). The 
Fifth Amendment provides that “No person shall be held 
to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, un-
less on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury . . . ,” 
U.S. CONST. amend. V, and according to the Sixth 
Amendment, “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused 
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shall enjoy the right . . . to be informed of the nature and 
cause of the accusation . . . .” U.S. CONST. amend. VI. Out 
of this constitutional framework comes two criteria for 
federal indictments. An indictment must first set forth the 
elements of the offense charged, thereby giving notice to 
a defendant of the accusations he must face. Second, an 
indictment must be sufficiently specific so that a defend-
ant may plead double jeopardy, if charged in a subsequent 
proceeding with the same crime based on the same facts. 
See Russell, 369 U.S. at 763-64; United States v. Mar-
tinez, 981 F.2d 867, 872 (6th Cir. 1992). With these re-
quirements in mind, the Court finds the Indictment re-
turned against Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Emmons passes 
constitutional muster. 

A 

At numerous times in each of the six motions to dis-
miss, Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Emmons attempt to litigate 
the facts of this matter. Motions to dismiss before trial are 
capable of determination if the motion raises questions of 
law, not facts. United States v. Jones, 542 F.2d 661, 664 
(6th Cir. 1976). A District Court may make preliminary 
findings of fact if such findings are necessary to determine 
the presented questions of law, but such findings cannot 
“invade the province of the jury.” United States v. Craft, 
105 F.3d 1123, 1126 (6th Cir. 1997). When a Defendant in-
stead claims the allegations included in the indictment are 
false or untrue, this is not a question of law, but rather a 
fact to be tried by the jury. Universal Milk Bottle Service 
v. United States, 188 F.2d 959, 962 (6th Cir. 1951).  

Both Defendants vigorously argue they had no intent 
to violate campaign finance regulations, and therefore, 
the Indictment must be dismissed. [See e.g. R. 33-1 at 28-
35; R. 36-1 at 21-32.] First, they claim that the payments 
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were not reported to the Campaign because such pay-
ments were inadvertently categorized as “personal” and 
would potentially violate the personal use ban for cam-
paign funds. [R. 33-1 at 30-31.] Additionally, in an attempt 
to demonstrate that their failure to report the spending 
was accidental, Defendants claim that once they became 
aware of their missteps, S.R. Holding Co. immediately 
billed and sought reimbursement from the Campaign for 
the very expenses outlined in the Indictment. [R. 36-1 at 
26.] They maintain that the Government has failed to 
demonstrate Defendants’ knowledge or intent to defraud. 
Id. at 27-28. 

However, Defendants’ arguments concerning these 
facts are premature and misplaced. The Indictment al-
leges clearly that both Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Emmons 
“knowingly and voluntarily” committed these crimes. [R. 
1 at 5, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, and 29.] The Indictment 
is not meant to prove the facts of the case; such task is left 
for trial. Instead, an indictment is sufficient so long as the 
alleged facts, if true, give rise to the offense charged. 
United States v. Landham, 251 F.3d 1072, 1079-80 (6th 
Cir. 2001). “Allegations of the indictment essential to 
prove the offense charged and the pleas in answer to such 
allegations require a trial of the general issue.” Universal 
Milk Bottle Service v. United States, 188 F.2d 959, 962 
(6th Cir. 1951). According to the Indictment, the Defend-
ants “knowingly and willfully” made contributions, 
“knowingly and willfully” caused false statements to be 
made, and “knowingly and willfully” caused false records 
to be submitted to the United States Government. [See 
generally, R. 1.] After a lengthy recitation of the relevant 
transactions, the Indictment alleges the Defendants 
“knowingly and willfully caused contributions of corpo-
rate money” by S.R. Holding Co. to be made to Candidate 



49a 

A and Political Committee 1, they “knowingly and will-
fully caused the submission of a materially false, fictitious, 
and fraudulent statement,” and they “knowingly con-
cealed, covered up, falsified, and made false entries in a 
record and document, and caused others to do so, with the 
intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the investiga-
tion. . . .” [R. 1 at 21-29 (emphasis added).] Each charge of 
the indictment specifically alleges the element of intent, 
and in order to find the Defendants guilty of any charge, 
the jury will need to determine whether the Defendants 
possessed this requisite intent. Mr. Lundergan and Mr. 
Emmons insist that any such violation of campaign fi-
nance law was unintentional, and thus the charges must 
be dismissed. However, this is an issue of fact to be tried 
by the jury. Universal Milk Bottle Service, 188 F.2d at 
962. Such is not a determination for the Court prior to 
trial. 

Similarly, Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Emmons ask this 
Court to determine whether the relevant payments were 
“vendor payments,” and thus not subject to the same cam-
paign finance regulations. [R. 35-1 at 10-22.] To host cam-
paign events, candidates for public office necessarily must 
contract with commercial vendors, such as rental compa-
nies, caterers, audio and visual technicians, or venue 
spaces. The law recognizes that candidates do not typi-
cally have these resources available internally and some-
times must contract with outside vendors to facilitate 
campaign events. Therefore, the services of the vendors 
are subject to somewhat different regulations. For exam-
ple, vendors are permitted to provide food and beverage 
at a discounted rate to a candidate, so long as the aggre-
gate value of that discount is no more than $1,000 per elec-
tion and so long as the candidate is at least paying for the 
vendor’s cost of the food and beverages. 11 C.F.R. 
§ 100.78. Additionally, commercial vendors are permitted 
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to extend credit to candidates, so long as the credit is ex-
tended within the ordinary course of business and the ven-
dor followed established procedures and normal practice 
in doing so. 11 C.F.R. § 116.3.  

A “commercial vendor” is defined as “any persons 
providing goods or services to a candidate or political com-
mittee whose usual and normal business involves the sale, 
rental, lease, or provision of those goods or services.” 11 
C.F.R. § 116.1. The Defendants here argue that S.R. 
Holding Co., the Lundergan Group, Signature Special 
Events, and Lundy’s Special Events were all commercial 
vendors, and the payments at issue were made to the Lun-
dergan Companies’ sub-vendors. [R. 35-1 at 10-11.] 
Therefore, because these payments all went to vendors 
and sub-vendors, the payments for goods and services are 
not considered “contributions.” Id. at 12. As vendors, the 
companies also had the ability to extend credit to the can-
didate and then collect on that credit after the campaign, 
so the bills submitted to Candidate A and Political Com-
mittee 1 after the investigation began were simply in the 
normal course of business as a vendor. Id. at 12-20. 

Except, the Indictment alleges that Mr. Lundergan 
and Mr. Emmons caused contributions of corporate funds 
to be made to Candidate A and Political Committee 1. [R. 
1 at 6, 21.] In order for a jury to find them guilty of these 
charges, the jury will need to decide whether the pay-
ments made were, in fact, contributions. Incorporated 
into their denial of the allegations, Mr. Lundergan and 
Mr. Emmons insist, again, that these services were simply 
“inadvertently not invoiced,” arguing, again, a lack of in-
tent. As stated previously, “Allegations of the indictment 
essential to prove the offense charged and the pleas in an-
swer to such allegations require a trial of the general is-
sue.” Universal Milk Bottle Service v. United States, 188 
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F.2d 959, 962 (6th Cir. 1951). Whether this was inadvert-
ent failure to invoice vendor services or intentional viola-
tion of the ban on corporate contributions is a question for 
the jury to decide. 

B 

The Court can, however, determine if the Indictment 
is legally insufficient. An indictment is adequate under the 
Constitution if it both “contains the elements of the of-
fense charged and fairly informs a defendant of the 
charge against which he must defend, and, second, ena-
bles him to plead an acquittal or conviction in bar of future 
prosecutions for the same offense.” Hamling v. United 
States, 418 U.S. 87, 117 (1974). The indictment must assert 
facts which would establish a prima facie case of the de-
fendant’s guilt if the facts were proven. United States v. 
Superior Growers Supply, Inc., 982 F.2d 173, 177 (6th Cir. 
1992). “An indictment is usually sufficient if it states the 
offense using the words of the statute itself, as long as the 
statute fully and unambiguously states all the elements of 
the offense.” United States v. Landham, 251 F.3d 1072, 
1079 (6th Cir. 2001). “Undoubtedly, the language of the 
statute may be used in the general description of an of-
fense, but it must be accompanied with such a statement 
of the facts and circumstances as will inform the accused 
of the specific offense, coming under the general descrip-
tion, with which he is charged.” United States v. Hess, 124 
U.S. 483, 487 (1888). 

1 

As an initial matter, Defendants claim that 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1519 does not apply to campaign finance violations and 
the Federal Election Campaign Act (FECA, 52 U.S.C. 
§30101 et seq.) can only be used for civil enforcement. [R. 
33-1 at 14-15; R. 36-1 at 14-21.] However, 52 U.S.C. 
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§ 30109(d) specifically authorizes criminal action, not just 
civil complaints, for violations of any provision of the 
FECA. For violations of § 1519, Defendants assert that 
the statute only applies in the corporate fraud context, en-
acted in response to the collapse of Enron. [R. 36-1 at 14-
15.] However, Defendants assert no law that supports 
such a limitation. 

When engaging in statutory construction, a Court 
must begin with the language employed by Congress. 
United States v. Calor, 340 F.3d 428, 431 (6th Cir. 2003). 
If such language is plain, the Court’s sole function must 
be to enforce the statute according to its terms. Id. The 
statute here is quite clear:  

Whoever knowingly alters, destroys, mutilates, con-
ceals, covers up, falsifies, or makes a false entry in any 
record, document, or tangible object with the intent to 
impede, obstruct, or influence the investigation or 
proper administration of any matter within the juris-
diction of any department or agency of the United 
States or any case filed under title 11, or in relation to 
or contemplation of any such matter or case, shall be 
fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 20 
years, or both. 

18 U.S.C. § 1519. While passed as part of the Sarbanes–
Oxley Act, which does target corporate fraud, nothing in 
the broad language of § 1519 limits it to prosecution of 
corporate fraud cases. See United States v. Hunt, 526 
F.3d 739, 744 (11th Cir. 2008). Both the Second and 
Eighth Circuits have concluded that § 1519 extends to vi-
olations of FECA because the financial records used by a 
political campaign are for recording or preserving infor-
mation and thus fall within the statute’s definition of a 
“tangible object.” United States v. Rowland, 826 F.3d 100 
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(2d Cir. 2016); United States v. Benton, 890 F.3d 697 (8th 
Cir. 2018). 

This Court agrees. Regulation of campaign finances 
rests in the proper administration of the Federal Election 
Commission, an agency of the United States. Financial 
disclosures are “records” typically used in the regulation 
of such finances. Intentionally altering, destroying, muti-
lating, concealing, covering up, falsifying, or making a 
false entry in those disclosures would impede, obstruct, or 
influence the proper administration of regulation within 
the Federal Election Commission. Thus, based on the 
plain language of § 1519, this Court joins with the Second 
and Eighth Circuits in finding that § 1519 extends to vio-
lations of FECA. 

2 

Defendants next assert the Indictment is insufficient 
because it fails to include facts supporting coordination 
between the campaign and the corporation. [R. 34-1 at 10-
22.] Here it is necessary to first distinguish between cam-
paign contributions and campaign expenditures. While in-
timately related in practice, contributions and expendi-
tures are subject to vastly different laws, regulations, and 
constitutional protections. Citizens United v. Fed. Elec-
tion Comm’n, 558 U.S. 310, 356-59 (2010). Contributions 
to a campaign include “any gift, subscription, loan, ad-
vance, or deposit of money or anything of value made by 
any person for the purpose of influencing any election for 
Federal office; or the payment by any person of compen-
sation for the personal services of another person which 
are rendered to a political committee without charge for 
any purpose.” 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A). Expenditures in-
clude “any purchase, payment, distribution, loan, ad-
vance, deposit, or gift of money or anything of value, made 
by any person for the purpose of influencing any election 



54a 

for Federal office; and a written contract, promise, or 
agreement to make an expenditure.” 52 U.S.C. 
§ 30101(9)(A). Both definitions include lengthy excep-
tions. 52 U.S.C. §§ 30101(8)(B) and 30101(9)(B). 

The law treats these transactions separately, in part 
because expenditures carry a far lesser risk of quid pro 
quo corruption than contributions. Citizens United, 558 
U.S. at 345; Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 47-48 (1976). To 
mitigate risks arising from expenditures, certain ex-
penses are also treated as contributions. In Buckley, the 
Supreme Court recognized:  

The expenditure of resources at the candidate’s direc-
tion for a fundraising event at a volunteer’s residence 
or the provision of in-kind assistance in the form of 
food or beverages to be resold to raise funds or con-
sumed by the participants in such an event provides 
material financial assistance to a candidate. The ulti-
mate effect is the same as if the person had contrib-
uted the dollar amount to the candidate and the candi-
date had then used the contribution to pay for the 
fundraising event or the food. . . . Treating these ex-
penses as contributions when made to the candidate’s 
campaign or at the direction of the candidate or his 
staff forecloses an avenue of abuse without limiting ac-
tions voluntarily undertaken by citizens inde-
pendently of a candidate’s campaign. 

424 U.S. at 36-37. Buckley drew a distinction between “in-
dependent expenditures” and “coordinated expendi-
tures.” Id. at 36-37, 46-47, 78; see also Colo. Republican 
Fed. Campaign Comm., 518 U.S. 604, 613 (1996). Inde-
pendent expenditures involve voluntary expenses in-
curred by private citizens independent of a candidate’s 
campaign committee. On the other hand, coordinate ex-
penditures, though also paid for by independent citizens, 
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typically involve knowledge by the campaign, direction 
from the campaign, or the provision of in-kind assistance 
to be resold as a fundraiser for the candidate or used in a 
campaign event. Id. The FECA treats “coordinated ex-
penditures” as a type of campaign contribution. Colo. Re-
publican Fed. Campaign Comm., 518 U.S. at 613. Mr. 
Lundergan and Mr. Emmons contend that the Indictment 
does not sufficiently allege coordination between the De-
fendants and the campaign, and that failure to allege suf-
ficient coordination renders the Indictment insufficient. 
[R. 34-1 at 13-22.] The Defendants argue that the Indict-
ment fails to allege any type of affirmative coordination 
by the campaign or include facts to support that Mr. Lun-
dergan acted as an agent of the campaign to participate in 
such affirmative coordination. Id. 

Contrary to defense arguments, the Indictment is not 
required to include the level of specificity they request. 
“An indictment is usually sufficient if it states the offense 
using the words of the statute itself, as long as the statute 
fully and unambiguously states all the elements of the of-
fense.” United States v. Landham, 251 F.3d 1072, 1079 
(6th Cir. 2001). The Indictment against Mr. Lundergan 
and Mr. Emmons specifies they are charged with viola-
tions pertaining only to alleged campaign contributions, 
not campaign expenditures. The consistent use of the 
term “contributions,” plus the inclusion of the relevant 
statutory language for each violation clearly establishes 
the crimes for which the Defendants are being charged. 
[See generally R. 1.] The United States is not required to 
define every component of every statutory term, includ-
ing, here, all possible types of contributions. See Hamling 
v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 118-19 (1974). Similarly, the 
United States is not required to prove its case to the Court 
at this stage, instead only providing facts, which if true, 
would support the elements of the offense. United States 
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v. McAuliffe, 490 F. 3d 526, 531 (6th Cir. 2007). This In-
dictment includes over fifteen pages of specific facts sup-
porting criminal charges related to contributions. Such 
robust provision of facts plus the use of statutory lan-
guage renders this Indictment sufficient without requir-
ing the United States to allege coordination between the 
Defendants and the campaign. Id. Any further argument 
by the Defendants that the alleged payments were “inde-
pendent expenditures” lacking sufficient evidence of coor-
dination is an improper attempt to have this Court deter-
mine the facts of the case, a job which must be left to the 
jury. Universal Milk Bottle Service v. United States, 188 
F.2d 959, 962 (6th Cir. 1951). 

3 

Furthermore, both Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Emmons 
claim the alleged violations of §§ 1519 and 1001 are uncon-
stitutionally vague. [R. 36-1 at 29-32.] A criminal statute 
is unconstitutionally vague if the statute “defines an of-
fense in such a way that ordinary people cannot under-
stand what is prohibited or if it encourages arbitrary or 
discriminatory enforcement.” United States v. Kernell, 
667 F.3d 746, 750 (6th Cir. 2012) (quoting United States v. 
Krumrei, 258 F.3d 535, 537 (6th Cir. 2001). To succeed on 
a challenge for vagueness, a defendant must demonstrate 
that the statute is vague as applied to his particular case, 
not merely that the “statute could be construed as vague 
in some hypothetical situation.” Id. 

Defendants argue that § 1519 is vague in this context 
because it results in prosecution “for even inevitable re-
porting issues.” [R. 36-1 at 30.] As to the charges under 
§ 1001, the Defendants argue that the Indictment “does 
not specifically articulate that Defendants acted with the 
requisite knowledge or intent.” Id. at 31. But the Indict-
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ment does allege such mens rea, stating that Mr. Lunder-
gan and Mr. Emmons “knowingly and willfully caused the 
submission” of false statements and “knowingly con-
cealed” false entries or records. [R. 1 at 22-29.] Because 
the jury is required to find their specific intent in order to 
return a guilty verdict, any concern that §§ 1519 and/or 
1001 could result in a conviction for Mr. Lundergan’s or 
Mr. Emmons’s “innocent conduct” is misplaced. Kernell, 
667 F.3d at 753. Any additional concern over future pros-
ecution is a hypothetical situation which cannot establish 
unconstitutional vagueness. Id. at 750. 

4 

Because the charges as to violations of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1001 use the same conduct that serves the basis for the 
charges as to violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1519, Defendants 
argue that Counts 4, 6, 8, and 10 should be dismissed as 
multiplicitous. [R. 37-1 at 6-11.] Count 3 of the Indictment 
charges a violation of § 1001, whereby on October 14, 
2013, the Defendants caused the submission of false state-
ments to the Federal Election Commission. [R. 1 at 22.] 
Count 4 relies on that same conduct for a violation of 
§ 1519, whereby Defendants on October 14, 2013, con-
cealed, covered up, falsified, and made false entries caus-
ing a false report to be filed with the Federal Election 
Commission. Id. at 23. Counts 5 and 6 rely on statements 
and records for January 30, 2014; Counts 7 and 8 relate to 
statements and records on October 15, 2015; Counts 9 and 
10 pertain to statements and records on January 30, 2016. 
Id. at 24-29. Defendants argue that prosecuting the same 
conduct under both federal statutes violated double jeop-
ardy principles. [R. 37-1 at 5.]  

Multiplicity occurs when an indictment charges a sin-
gle offense in more than one count. United States v. Swaf-
ford, 512 F.3d 833, 844 (6th Cir. 2008). While the same 
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conduct can violate multiple statutes, the Fifth Amend-
ment prohibits double prosecution for the same offense. 
In reviewing seemingly multiplicitous counts, a Court 
must first determine “whether Congress intended to pun-
ish each statutory violation separately,” and if that finding 
is not dispositive, the Court looks to “whether each provi-
sion requires proof of a fact which the other does not.” Id. 
(citations and quotations omitted). This second half of the 
analysis, from Blockburger v. United States, establishes 
clearly that a single act can violate two separate statutes, 
and that a defendant can permissibly be convicted under 
both statutes without violating double jeopardy princi-
ples. 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932).  

Section 1519 relates to the destruction, alteration, or 
falsification of records, while § 1001 prohibits materially 
false statements or representations of any kind. Nothing 
in either statue expressly prohibits applying both statutes 
simultaneously. Instead, the Senate Report discussion on 
§ 1519 specifically cites to 18 U.S.C. § 1001, indicating 
Congress intended for both statutes to apply to matters 
such as this. S. REP. NO. 107-146 at 13-15, 2002 WL 
32054437 (2002). 

Furthermore, under Blockburger, charges under each 
of §§ 1001 and 1519 require proof of an element that 
charges under the other statute does not. For charges un-
der § 1001(a)(2), as indicted in Counts 3, 5, 7, and 9, a jury 
is required to find Defendants made a false, fictitious, or 
fraudulent statement or representation; that specific fal-
sity, fiction, or fraud was in relation to a material fact; and 
Defendants had the requisite intent to make such a mate-
rially false, fictious, or fraudulent statement. 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1001(a)(2). For charges under § 1519, as indicted by 
Counts 4, 6, 8, and 10, a jury must find Defendants altered, 
destroyed, mutilated, concealed, covered up, falsified, or 
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made a false entry; such deception or destruction oc-
curred in a record, document, or tangible object; and De-
fendants acted with the intent to impede, obstruct, or in-
fluence the investigation or proper administration of any 
matter within the jurisdiction of any department or 
agency of the United States. 18 U.S.C. § 1519. While both 
pertain to false statements, a conviction under 
§ 1001(a)(2) requires a jury to determine the false state-
ment pertained to a material fact, which § 1519 does not 
necessitate. Similarly, while both require a specific mens 
rea, a conviction under § 1519 will be sustained only if the 
Defendant intended to impede, obstruct, or influence a 
federal investigation or administration of a federal 
agency; § 1001 only requires Defendants intend to make 
false, fictious, or fraudulent statements. It is possible a 
jury could find the Defendants intended to defraud with-
out intending to impede, obstruct, or influence an investi-
gation or administration, just as it is equally possible for 
a jury to conclude the Defendants made a false statement, 
but the falsity did not pertain to a material fact. Because 
these counts charge discrete crimes, the Indictment is not 
multiplicitous, even if it uses the same conduct for viola-
tions of both statutes. Blockburger, 284 U.S. at 304. 

C 

Finally, Defendants argue throughout their motions 
that prosecution under the corporate contributions ban is 
unconstitutional in this circumstance. The Court has al-
ready discussed the distinctions between campaign con-
tributions and campaign expenditures, how such expend-
itures are split between independent expenditures and co-
ordinated expenditures, and how coordinated expendi-
tures are treated under the law as campaign contribu-
tions. See supra Part II(B)(2). The Supreme Court of the 
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United States has determined that regulating independ-
ent expenditures, both for individuals and corporations, 
violates the First Amendment, but has repeatedly upheld 
restrictions on campaign contributions and coordinated 
expenditures. See e.g., Citizens United v. Fed. Election 
Comm., 558 U.S. 310 (2010); Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1 
(1976). 

1 

When individuals form a business, they can organize 
in a variety of ways. These various organizations, such as 
sole proprietorships, joint ventures, partnerships, and 
limited partnerships, each offer different legal character-
istics, restrictions, and protections for the business 
owner(s). 18 Am. Jur. 2d Corporations § 5. As a product of 
statute, the corporation maintains an existence entirely 
different from an unincorporated business association. Id. 
Incorporation offers a business limited liability, maintain-
ing an independent identity from shareholders or mem-
bers. Id. Such an entity is not a sole proprietorship, as a 
sole proprietorship has no legal existence apart from the 
owner and offers the owner no limited liability. Id. “Sepa-
rate corporate identity is a privilege conferred by law to 
further important underlying policies, such as the promo-
tion of commerce and industrial growth.” 18 Am. Jur. 2d 
Corporations § 45. 

Because of this privilege, laws and regulations impose 
different standards for individuals and corporations. “Af-
ter all, incorporation’s basic purpose is to create a distinct 
legal entity, with legal rights, obligations, powers, and 
privileges different from those of the natural individuals 
who created it, who own it, or whom it employs.” Cedric 
Kushner Promotions, Ltd. v. King, 533 U.S. 158, 163 
(2001). Neither Defendant denies the corporate status of 
S.R. Holding Co., but instead argues that S.R. Holding 
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Co. should not be treated as a corporation for the pur-
poses of campaign finance law because it is wholly owned 
and operated by Mr. Lundergan and his immediate fam-
ily. [R. 33-1.] However, Defendants do not offer, and the 
Court cannot find, any case law supporting such a depar-
ture from established corporate treatment. Mr. Lunder-
gan and his family chose the corporate model for this busi-
ness and therefore must abide by the laws applicable to 
corporations. The Indictment alleges payments from the 
accounts of S.R. Holding Co., the corporation, not pay-
ments from the Lundergan family members as individu-
als, and thus the payments are subject to corporate laws.  

Having declined to distinguish Mr. Lundergan’s busi-
ness as anything other than a corporation, the ban on cor-
porate contributions applies to S.R. Holding Co. Com-
plete bans on direct contributions are generally upheld in 
situations where the corporation can still participate in 
the political process through a political action committee 
(PAC) or a separate segregated fund (SSF). See, e.g., Fed. 
Election Comm’n v. Beaumont, 539 U.S. 146, 149, 163 
(2003); Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 29, n.31 (1976). Cor-
porate contributions can be used “as conduits for circum-
vention of [valid] contribution limits,” because members 
or owners can use the corporate form to divert money in 
a way that “exceed[s] the bounds imposed on their own 
contributions.” Beaumont, 539 U.S. at 155. This Court 
previously determined that even after Citizens United, 
the Beaumont decision upholding the ban on corporate 
contributions remains controlling precedent. Protect My 
Check, Inc. v. Dilger, 176 F.Supp.3d 685, 696-97 (E.D. Ky. 
2016). 

Furthermore, the Court sees no legal reason to carve 
out an exception to the corporate contributions ban for 
corporations held by immediate family members. The 
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Government has a recognized interest in preventing quid 
pro quo corruption and the appearance thereof, which 
does not disappear simply because the corporation is 
owned by a candidate’s family. Buckley, 424 U.S. at 26-27. 
As the Buckley Court recognized, the limits of individual 
contributions are not suspended for members of a candi-
date’s family: “Although the risk of improper influence is 
somewhat diminished in this case of large contributions 
from immediate family members, we cannot say that the 
danger is sufficiently reduced to bar Congress from sub-
jecting family members to the same limitations as non-
family contributors.” Id. at 53 n.59. The Court finds the 
same logic extends here. Just as the individual contribu-
tions limit is not modified for family members, nor should 
the corporate contributions ban be lifted simply because 
the owners of the corporation are family members to the 
candidate. 

2 

The Defendants further argue that the payments al-
leged in the Indictment are intrafamilial contributions 
and limiting intrafamilial contributions violates the Con-
stitution. However, the Indictment alleges payments from 
S.R. Holding Co., not from Mr. Lundergan personally. [R. 
1.] As stated previously, S.R. Holding Co. is subject to the 
statutory ban on corporate contributions to federal elec-
tions, and such a ban is not lifted simply because Mr. Lun-
dergan was an immediate family member of the Candi-
date. See supra Part II(C)(1). Again, the Supreme Court 
has affirmed that these limits extend to immediate family 
members, noting that the risk of corruption, though di-
minished, does not disappear simply because the contri-
butions come from immediate family members. Id., Buck-
ley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 53, n.59 (1976). While Mr. Lunder-
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gan and Mr. Emmons claim a “growing body of jurispru-
dence on campaign finance law supports the conclusion 
that limiting intrafamilial contributions to candidates . . . 
violates the First Amendment,” neither Defendant cites 
case law to support such supposed jurisprudence. [R. 33-
1 at 15-19.] Instead, the repeated affirmations from the 
Supreme Court on various contributions bans and regula-
tions indicate that such limitations do not violate the First 
Amendment. See e.g., Buckley, 424 U.S. 1; Citizens 
United v. Fed. Election Comm’n, 558 U.S. 310 (2010). 

Nor do the limitations create impermissible disparate 
treatment between personal funds and the funds from 
family members. As stated several times in this Order, the 
Government has an important interest in preventing quid 
pro quo corruption, and such corruption is constitutionally 
curtailed by imposing limitations on the amount of contri-
butions to the campaign. There is no such concern when a 
candidate contributes to her own campaign, as there is no 
risk of quid pro quo corruption that arises from those con-
tributions. Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Emmons argue there 
is no such risk when the contributions come from family 
members, but examples from other circuits indicate such 
a risk is severe. See, e.g., United States v. Reed, 908 F.3d 
102, 125 (5th Cir. 2018); United States v. Skelos, 707 F. 
App’x 733, 739 (2d Cir. 2017). This interest differentiates 
personal funds from funds given by family members and 
gives ample justification for the disparate treatment. See 
generally, Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1 (1976).  

Finally, the Defendants argue Mr. Lundergan has es-
tablished a “pattern of gift-giving,” and prosecution in this 
circumstance would violate due process. [R. 33-1 at 20-26.] 
A candidate’s “personal funds,” not subject to contribu-
tion limits, include gifts from members of her family which 
were “customarily received by the candidate prior to the 
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beginning of the election cycle.” 52 U.S.C. 
§ 30101(26)(B)(vi). The Defendants argue that Mr. Lun-
dergan customarily gave gifts to Candidate A “worth sev-
eral times more than the expenses in question in this mat-
ter.” [R. 33-1 at 23, n.15.] This may be true. But the In-
dictment is not concerned with the funds provided by Mr. 
Lundergan to Candidate A, the Indictment involves pay-
ments made by a corporation, a legally separate entity 
with separate bank accounts from Mr. Lundergan. [R. 1.] 
There is no “pattern of gift giving” that can occur by a 
corporation to a candidate, as a corporation cannot legally 
be a family member. Further argument by the Defend-
ants suggesting “a strong basis for finding [these pay-
ments] to be [the Candidate’s] personal funds” is an addi-
tional attempt to litigate the facts, which the Court again 
declines to consider. 

III 

Mr. Lundergan and Mr. Emmons submitted over two 
hundred and fifty pages of briefing in an attempt to dis-
miss the Indictment against them, most of which were de-
voted to contesting the facts alleged in the Indictment and 
proclaiming their lack of required mens rea. However, a 
motion to dismiss is not the vehicle for which to litigate 
such claims, as those facts must be determined by a jury. 
Universal Milk Bottle Service v. United States, 188 F.2d 
959, 962 (6th Cir. 1951). Additionally, the Defendants ar-
gue that any prosecution here would be unconstitutional, 
though current precedent forecloses this Court from so 
finding. After considering all arguments presented by the 
parties and scrutinizing the allegations made by the Gov-
ernment, the Court finds the Indictment is constitution-
ally sufficient to charge the Defendants with violations of 
18 U.S.C. §§ 2, 371, 1001, and 1519, as well as violations of 
52 U.S.C. §§ 30118 and 30109(d)(1)(A)(i). Accordingly, and 
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the Court being sufficiently advised, it is hereby OR-
DERED as follows: 

1. Defendant Dale C. Emmons’s Motion for Joinder 
[R. 41] is GRANTED; 

2. Defendant Dale C. Emmons’s Motion for Joinder 
[R. 65] is GRANTED; 

3. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Intrafamilial Con-
tributions) [R. 33] is DENIED;  

4. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (No Coordination) 
[R. 34] is DENIED;  

5. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Vendor Payments) 
[R. 35] is DENIED;  

6. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss 1001 and 1519 
Counts [R. 36] is DENIED;  

7. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Multiplicitous 
Counts [R. 37] is DENIED; and  

8.  Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Contributions Ban) 
[R. 38] is DENIED. 

 

This the 18th day of March, 2019. 

s/ Gregory F. Van Tatenhove 

  Gregory F. Van Tatenhove,  

United States District Judge 
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE SIXTH CIRCUIT 

 
 

Nos. 20-5869/5890 
 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff-Appellee, 
 

v. 
 

DALE C. EMMONS (20-5869); 
GERALD G. LUNDERGAN (20-5890), 

Defendants-Appellants. 
 

 
Filed:  September 23, 2021 

 
 

ORDER 

Before: COLE, CLAY, and GRIFFIN, Circuit Judges. 

The court received a petition for rehearing en banc. 
The original panel has reviewed the petition for rehearing 
and concludes that the issues raised in the petition were 
fully considered upon the original submission and decision 
of the cases. The petition then was circulated to the full 
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court.* No judge has requested a vote on the suggestion 
for rehearing en banc.  

Therefore, the petition is denied. 

 

ENTERED BY ORDER OF THE COURT  

s/ Deborah S. Hunt 

Deborah S. Hunt, Clerk 

                                                  
* Judge Thapar recused himself from participation in this ruling. 


